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2(&'3ULQFLSOHVRI&RUSRUDWH*RYHUQDQFH
Since the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance were agreed in 1999, they have formed the basis
for corporate governance initiatives in both OECD and non-OECD countries alike. Moreover, they have
been adopted as one of the Twelve Key Standards for Sound Financial Systems by the Financial Stability
Forum. Accordingly they form the basis of the corporate governance component of the World Bank/IMF
Reports on Standards and Codes (ROSC).
The OECD Council Meeting at Ministerial Level in 2002 agreed to survey developments in OECD
countries and to assess the Principles in light of developments in corporate governance. This task was
entrusted to the OECD Steering Group on Corporate Governance comprising not only OECD countries but
also the World Bank, the Bank for International Settlements (BIS) and the International Monetary Fund
(IMF) that are observers to the Group. For the assessment the Steering Group also invited the Financial
Stability Forum, the Basle Committee, and IOSCO as ad hoc observers.
The revised Principles contained in this document build upon experience not only in the OECD area
but also in non-OECD countries, especially those which have participated in the Regional Corporate
Governance Roundtables that the OECD organises in Russia, Asia, South East Europe, Latin America and
Eurasia in co-operation with the World Bank. During the development of the Principles, the Steering
Group has undertaken very comprehensive consultations. These consultations have included experts from a
large number of the Roundtable countries and other non-OECD countries as well as a wide range of
interested parties such as the business sector, professional groups at national and international level, trade
unions, civil society organisations and international standard setting bodies.
3UHDPEOH
The Principles are intended to assist OECD and non-OECD governments in their efforts to evaluate
and improve the legal, institutional and regulatory framework for corporate governance in their countries,
and to provide guidance and suggestions for stock exchanges, investors, corporations, and other parties that
have a role in the process of developing good corporate governance. The Principles focus on publicly
traded companies, both financial and non-financial. However, to the extent they are deemed applicable,
they might also be a useful tool to improve corporate governance in non-traded companies, for example,
privately held and state-owned enterprises. The Principles represent broad features that the Steering Group
considers essential for the development of good governance practice. They are intended to be concise,
understandable and accessible to the international community. They are not intended to substitute for
government, quasi-government or private sector initiatives to develop more detailed “best practice” in
corporate governance.
Increasingly, the OECD and its member governments have recognised the synergy between
macroeconomic and structural policies. One key element in improving economic efficiency and growth as
well as protecting private savings is corporate governance. Indeed a key driver for public policy
involvement in corporate governance in a number of countries has been concern about the preservation of
private savings for retirement. Corporate governance involves a set of relationships between a company’s
management, its board, its shareholders and other stakeholders. Corporate governance also provides the
structure through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining those objectives
and monitoring performance are determined. Good corporate governance should provide proper incentives
for the board and management to pursue objectives that are in the interests of the company and
shareholders and should facilitate effective monitoring, thereby encouraging firms to use resources more
efficiently.
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Corporate governance is only part of the larger economic context in which firms operate that includes,
for example, macroeconomic policies and the degree of competition in product and factor markets. The
corporate governance framework also depends on the legal, regulatory, and institutional environment. In
addition, factors such as business ethics and corporate awareness of the environmental and societal
interests of the communities in which it operates can also have an impact on the reputation and the longterm success of a company.
While a multiplicity of factors affect the governance and decision-making processes of firms, and are
important to their long-term success, the Principles focus on governance problems that result from the
separation of ownership and control. However, this is not simply an issue of the relationship between
shareholders and management, although that is indeed a central element. For example, in some
jurisdictions, governance issues arise from the disproportionate power of certain controlling shareholders
over minority shareholders, while in others, employees have important rights irrespective of their
ownership rights. The Principles therefore have to take a broader approach to the operation of checks and
balances and the definition of roles and duties. Some of the other issues relevant to a company’s decisionmaking processes, such as environmental or ethical concerns, are taken into account but are treated more
explicitly in a number of other OECD instruments (including the *XLGHOLQHVIRU0XOWLQDWLRQDO(QWHUSULVHV
and the &RQYHQWLRQRQ&RPEDWLQJ%ULEHU\RI)RUHLJQ3XEOLF2IILFLDOVLQ,QWHUQDWLRQDO7UDQVDFWLRQV) and
the instruments of other international organisations.
The degree to which corporations observe basic principles of good corporate governance is an
increasingly important factor for investment decisions. Of particular relevance is the relation between
corporate governance practices and the increasingly international character of investment. International
flows of capital enable companies to access financing from a much larger pool of investors. If countries are
to reap the full benefits of the global capital market, and if they are to attract long-term “patient” capital,
corporate governance arrangements must be credible, well understood across borders and adhere to a
minimum standard of accepted principles. Even if corporations do not rely primarily on foreign sources of
capital, adherence to good corporate governance practices will help improve the confidence of domestic
investors, reduce the cost of capital, underpin the good functioning of financial markets, and ultimately
induce more stable sources of financing.
Corporate governance is affected by the relationships among participants in the governance system.
Controlling shareholders, which may be individuals, family holdings, bloc alliances, or other corporations
acting through a holding company or cross shareholdings, can significantly influence corporate behaviour.
As owners of equity, institutional investors are increasingly demanding a voice in corporate governance in
some markets. Individual shareholders usually do not seek to exercise governance rights but may be highly
concerned about obtaining fair treatment from controlling shareholders and management. Creditors play an
important role in a number of governance systems and can serve as external monitors over corporate
performance. Employees and other stakeholders play an important role in contributing to the long-term
success and performance of the corporation, while governments establish the overall institutional and legal
framework for corporate governance. The role of each of these participants and their interactions vary
widely among OECD countries and among non-OECD countries as well. These relationships are subject,
in part, to law and regulation and, in part, to voluntary adaptation and, most importantly, to market forces.
Taken together they constitute the corporate governance framework.
There is no single model of good corporate governance. However, work carried out in both OECD
and non-OECD countries and within the OECD has identified some common elements that underlie good
corporate governance. The Principles build on these common elements and are formulated to embrace the
different models that exist. For example, they do not advocate any particular board structure and the term
“board” as used in this document is meant to embrace the different national models of board structures
found in OECD and non-OECD countries. In the typical two tier system, found in some countries, “board”
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as used in the Principles refers to the “supervisory board” while “key executives” refers to the
“management board”. In systems where the unitary board is overseen by an internal auditor’s board, the
term “board” includes both.
The Principles are non-binding and do not aim at detailed prescriptions for national legislation but
rather to particular objectives or outcomes, which may be achieved through various means. Their purpose
is to serve as a reference point. They can be used by policy makers, as they examine and develop their
legal and regulatory frameworks for corporate governance that reflect their own economic, social, legal
and cultural circumstances, and by market participants as they develop their own practices.
The Principles are evolutionary in nature and should be reviewed in light of significant changes in
circumstances. To remain competitive in a changing world, corporations must innovate and adapt their
corporate governance practices so that they can meet new demands and grasp new opportunities. Similarly,
governments have an important responsibility for shaping an effective regulatory framework that provides
for sufficient flexibility to allow markets to function effectively and to respond to expectations of
shareholders and other stakeholders. It is up to governments and market participants to decide how to apply
these Principles in developing their own frameworks for corporate governance, taking into account the
costs and benefits of regulation.
The following document is divided into two parts. In addition to general principles covering the legal,
regulatory and institutional framework, the Principles presented in the first part of the document cover the
following areas: I) The rights of shareholders and key ownership functions; II) The equitable treatment of
shareholders; III) The role of stakeholders; IV) Disclosure and transparency; and V) Theresponsibilities of
the board. Each of the sections is headed by a single Principle that appears in bold italics and is followed
by a number of supporting recommendations. In the second part of the document, the Principles are
supplemented by annotations that contain commentary on the Principles and are intended to help readers
understand their rationale. The annotations may also contain descriptions of dominant trends and offer
alternatives and examples that may be useful in making the Principles operational.
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(QVXULQJDQHIIHFWLYHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUN
7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGEHGHYHORSHGZLWKDYLHZWRLWVLPSDFWRQRYHUDOO
HFRQRPLF SHUIRUPDQFH DQG WKH LQFHQWLYHV LW FUHDWHV IRU PDUNHW SDUWLFLSDQWV DQG WKH SURPRWLRQ RI
WUDQVSDUHQWDQGHIILFLHQWPDUNHWV
7KH OHJDO DQG UHJXODWRU\ UHTXLUHPHQWV WKDW DIIHFW FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH SUDFWLFHV LQ D
MXULVGLFWLRQVKRXOGEHWUDQVSDUHQWDQGHQIRUFHDEOH
7KH GLYLVLRQ RI UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV DPRQJ GLIIHUHQW UHJXODWRU\ DXWKRULWLHVLQ DMXULVGLFWLRQ VKRXOG
EHFOHDUO\DUWLFXODWHGDQGHQVXUHWKDWWKHSXEOLFLQWHUHVWLVVHUYHG
6XSHUYLVRU\ UHJXODWRU\ DQG HQIRUFHPHQW DXWKRULWLHV VKRXOG KDYH WKH DXWKRULW\ LQWHJULW\ DQG
UHVRXUFHVWRIXOILOWKHLUGXWLHVLQDSURIHVVLRQDODQGREMHFWLYHPDQQHU0RUHRYHUWKHLUUXOLQJVVKRXOG
EHWLPHO\WUDQVSDUHQWDQGIXOO\H[SODLQHG
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,7KHULJKWVRIVKDUHKROGHUVDQGNH\RZQHUVKLSIXQFWLRQV
7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGSURWHFWDQGIDFLOLWDWHWKHH[HUFLVHRIVKDUHKROGHUV¶ULJKWV
$ %DVLF VKDUHKROGHU ULJKWV VKRXOG LQFOXGH WKH ULJKW WR   VHFXUH PHWKRGV RI RZQHUVKLS
UHJLVWUDWLRQ  FRQYH\ RU WUDQVIHU VKDUHV  REWDLQ UHOHYDQW DQG VXIILFLHQWLQIRUPDWLRQ
RQ WKH FRUSRUDWLRQ RQ D WLPHO\ DQG UHJXODU EDVLV   SDUWLFLSDWH DQG YRWH LQ JHQHUDO
VKDUHKROGHU PHHWLQJV   HOHFW DQG UHPRYH PHPEHUV RI WKH ERDUG DQG   VKDUH LQ WKH
SURILWVRIWKHFRUSRUDWLRQ
% 6KDUHKROGHUVVKRXOGKDYHWKHULJKWWRSDUWLFLSDWHLQDQGWREHVXIILFLHQWO\LQIRUPHGRQ
GHFLVLRQV FRQFHUQLQJ IXQGDPHQWDO FRUSRUDWH FKDQJHV VXFK DV   DPHQGPHQWV WR WKH
VWDWXWHVRUDUWLFOHVRILQFRUSRUDWLRQRUVLPLODUJRYHUQLQJGRFXPHQWVRIWKHFRPSDQ\ 
WKH DXWKRULVDWLRQ RI DGGLWLRQDO VKDUHV DQG   H[WUDRUGLQDU\ WUDQVDFWLRQV LQFOXGLQJ WKH
WUDQVIHURIDVVHWVWKDWLQHIIHFWUHVXOWLQHLWKHUWKHVDOHRIWKHFRPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVRUDQ
LPSDLUPHQWRIVKDUHKROGHUFDSLWDO
& 6KDUHKROGHUVVKRXOGKDYHWKHRSSRUWXQLW\WRSDUWLFLSDWHHIIHFWLYHO\DQGYRWHLQJHQHUDO
VKDUHKROGHUPHHWLQJVDQGVKRXOGEHLQIRUPHGRIWKHUXOHVLQFOXGLQJYRWLQJSURFHGXUHV
WKDWJRYHUQJHQHUDOVKDUHKROGHUPHHWLQJV


6KDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG EH IXUQLVKHG ZLWK VXIILFLHQW DQG WLPHO\ LQIRUPDWLRQ
FRQFHUQLQJ WKH GDWH ORFDWLRQ DQG DJHQGD RI JHQHUDO PHHWLQJV DV ZHOO DV IXOO
DQGWLPHO\LQIRUPDWLRQUHJDUGLQJWKHLVVXHVWREHGHFLGHGDWWKHPHHWLQJ



6KDUHKROGHUVVKRXOGKDYHWKHRSSRUWXQLW\WRDVNTXHVWLRQVWRWKHERDUGDQGWKH
H[WHUQDO DXGLWRU WR SODFH LWHPV RQ WKH DJHQGD RI JHQHUDO PHHWLQJV DQG WR
SURSRVHUHVROXWLRQVVXEMHFWWRUHDVRQDEOHOLPLWDWLRQV



(IIHFWLYHVKDUHKROGHUSDUWLFLSDWLRQLQNH\FRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHGHFLVLRQVVXFK
DV WKH QRPLQDWLRQ DQG HOHFWLRQ RI ERDUG PHPEHUV VKRXOG EH IDFLOLWDWHG
6KDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG EH DEOH WR PDNH WKHLU YLHZV NQRZQ RQ WKH UHPXQHUDWLRQ
SROLF\IRUERDUGPHPEHUV7KHHTXLW\FRPSRQHQWRIFRPSHQVDWLRQVFKHPHVIRU
ERDUGPHPEHUVNH\H[HFXWLYHVDQGHPSOR\HHVVKRXOGEHVXEMHFWWRVKDUHKROGHU
DSSURYDO



6KDUHKROGHUVVKRXOGEHDEOHWRYRWHLQSHUVRQRULQDEVHQWLDDQGHTXDOHIIHFW
VKRXOGEHJLYHQWRYRWHVZKHWKHUFDVWLQSHUVRQRULQDEVHQWLD.

' &DSLWDOVWUXFWXUHVDQGDUUDQJHPHQWVWKDWHQDEOHFHUWDLQVKDUHKROGHUVWRREWDLQDGHJUHH
RIFRQWUROGLVSURSRUWLRQDWHWRWKHLUHTXLW\RZQHUVKLSVKRXOGEHGLVFORVHG 
( 0DUNHWV IRU FRUSRUDWH FRQWURO VKRXOG EH DOORZHG WR IXQFWLRQ LQ DQ HIILFLHQW DQG
WUDQVSDUHQWPDQQHU


7KHUXOHVDQGSURFHGXUHVJRYHUQLQJWKHDFTXLVLWLRQRIFRUSRUDWHFRQWUROLQWKH
FDSLWDOPDUNHWVDQGH[WUDRUGLQDU\WUDQVDFWLRQVVXFKDVPHUJHUVDQGVDOHVRI
VXEVWDQWLDO SRUWLRQV RI FRUSRUDWH DVVHWV VKRXOG EH FOHDUO\ DUWLFXODWHG DQG
GLVFORVHG VR WKDWLQYHVWRUV XQGHUVWDQG WKHLU ULJKWV DQG UHFRXUVH 7UDQVDFWLRQV
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)

VKRXOG RFFXU DW WUDQVSDUHQW SULFHV DQG XQGHU IDLU FRQGLWLRQV WKDW SURWHFW WKH
ULJKWVRIDOOVKDUHKROGHUVDFFRUGLQJWRWKHLUFODVV
$QWLWDNHRYHUGHYLFHVVKRXOGQRWEHXVHGWRVKLHOGPDQDJHPHQWDQGWKHERDUG
IURPDFFRXQWDELOLW\

7KHH[HUFLVHRIRZQHUVKLSULJKWVE\DOOVKDUHKROGHUVLQFOXGLQJLQVWLWXWLRQDOLQYHVWRUV
VKRXOGEHIDFLOLWDWHG
 ,QVWLWXWLRQDO LQYHVWRUV DFWLQJ LQ D ILGXFLDU\ FDSDFLW\ VKRXOG GLVFORVH WKHLU
RYHUDOO FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH DQG YRWLQJ SROLFLHV ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKHLU
LQYHVWPHQWVLQFOXGLQJWKHSURFHGXUHVWKDWWKH\KDYHLQSODFHIRUGHFLGLQJRQ
WKHXVHRIWKHLUYRWLQJULJKWV7KHYRWLQJUHFRUGRIVXFKLQYHVWRUVVKRXOGDOVR
EHGLVFORVHGWRWKHPDUNHWRQDQDQQXDOEDVLV
 ,QVWLWXWLRQDOLQYHVWRUVDFWLQJLQDILGXFLDU\FDSDFLW\VKRXOGGLVFORVHKRZWKH\
PDQDJH PDWHULDO FRQIOLFWV RI LQWHUHVW WKDW PD\ DIIHFW WKH H[HUFLVH RI NH\
RZQHUVKLSULJKWVUHJDUGLQJWKHLULQYHVWPHQWV

*

6KDUHKROGHUVLQFOXGLQJLQVWLWXWLRQDOVKDUHKROGHUVVKRXOGEHDOORZHGWRFRQVXOWZLWK
HDFK RWKHU RQ LVVXHV FRQFHUQLQJ WKHLU EDVLF VKDUHKROGHU ULJKWV DV GHILQHG LQ WKH
SULQFLSOHV DERYH VXEMHFW WR VRPH SRVVLEOH H[FHSWLRQV UHJDUGLQJ LQDSSURSULDWH
FROOXVLRQ
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,,7KHHTXLWDEOHWUHDWPHQWRIVKDUHKROGHUV
7KH FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH IUDPHZRUN VKRXOG HQVXUH WKH HTXLWDEOH WUHDWPHQW RI DOO VKDUHKROGHUV
LQFOXGLQJ PLQRULW\ DQG IRUHLJQ VKDUHKROGHUV $OO VKDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ
HIIHFWLYHUHGUHVVIRUYLRODWLRQRIWKHLUULJKWV

$  $OOVKDUHKROGHUVRIWKHVDPHFODVVVKRXOGEHWUHDWHGHTXDOO\

1.
:LWKLQ DQ\ FODVV DOO VKDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH VDPH YRWLQJ ULJKWV $OO
LQYHVWRUVVKRXOGEHDEOHWRREWDLQLQIRUPDWLRQDERXWWKHYRWLQJULJKWVDWWDFKHG
WR DOO FODVVHV RI VKDUHV EHIRUH WKH\ SXUFKDVH $Q\ FKDQJHV LQ YRWLQJ ULJKWV
VKRXOG EH VXEMHFW WR DSSURYDO E\ WKRVH FODVVHV RI VKDUHKROGHUV ZKR DUH
QHJDWLYHO\DIIHFWHG





0LQRULW\ VKDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG EH SURWHFWHG IURP DEXVLYH DFWLRQV E\ RU LQ WKH
LQWHUHVWRIFRQWUROOLQJVKDUHKROGHUVDQGVKRXOGKDYHHIIHFWLYHPHDQVRIUHGUHVV



9RWHVVKRXOGEHFDVWE\FXVWRGLDQVRUQRPLQHHVLQDPDQQHUDJUHHGXSRQZLWK
WKHEHQHILFLDORZQHURIWKHVKDUHV



8QUHVWULFWHGFURVVERUGHUYRWLQJVKRXOGEHIDFLOLWDWHG



3URFHVVHV DQG SURFHGXUHV IRU JHQHUDO VKDUHKROGHU PHHWLQJV VKRXOG DOORZ IRU
HTXLWDEOHWUHDWPHQWRIDOOVKDUHKROGHUV&RPSDQ\SURFHGXUHVVKRXOGQRWPDNH
LWXQGXO\GLIILFXOWRUH[SHQVLYHWRFDVWYRWHV

%

,QVLGHUWUDGLQJDQGDEXVLYHVHOIGHDOLQJVKRXOGEHSURKLELWHG

&

0HPEHUV RI WKH ERDUG DQG NH\ H[HFXWLYHV VKRXOG EH UHTXLUHG WR LQIRUP WKH ERDUG
ZKHWKHU WKH\ GLUHFWO\ RU RQ EHKDOI RI WKLUG SDUWLHV KDYH D PDWHULDO LQWHUHVW LQ
WUDQVDFWLRQVGLUHFWO\DIIHFWLQJWKHFRUSRUDWLRQ
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,,,7KHUROHRIVWDNHKROGHUVLQFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFH

7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGUHFRJQLVHWKHULJKWVRIVWDNHKROGHUVDVHVWDEOLVKHGE\ODZ
DQGHQFRXUDJHDFWLYHFRRSHUDWLRQEHWZHHQFRUSRUDWLRQVDQGVWDNHKROGHUVLQFUHDWLQJZHDOWKMREVDQG
WKHVXVWDLQDELOLW\RIILQDQFLDOO\VRXQGHQWHUSULVHV

$

7KHULJKWVRIVWDNHKROGHUVWKDWDUHSURWHFWHGE\ODZVKRXOGEHUHVSHFWHG

%  :KHUH VWDNHKROGHU LQWHUHVWV DUH SURWHFWHG E\ ODZ VWDNHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH
RSSRUWXQLW\WRREWDLQHIIHFWLYHUHGUHVVIRUYLRODWLRQRIWKHLUULJKWV
& 3HUIRUPDQFHHQKDQFLQJPHFKDQLVPVIRUHPSOR\HHSDUWLFLSDWLRQVKRXOGEHSHUPLWWHG







'  :KHUH VWDNHKROGHUV SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH SURFHVV WKH\ VKRXOG
KDYHDFFHVVWRUHOHYDQWDQGVXIILFLHQWLQIRUPDWLRQRQDWLPHO\DQGUHJXODUEDVLV
 
(  6WDNHKROGHUVLQFOXGLQJ LQGLYLGXDOHPSOR\HHV VKRXOG EH DEOHWRIUHHO\ FRPPXQLFDWH
WKHLU FRQFHUQV DERXW LOOHJDO RU XQHWKLFDO SUDFWLFHV WR WKH FRPSDQ\ ERDUG DQG WKHLU
ULJKWVVKRXOGQRWEHFRPSURPLVHGIRUGRLQJWKLV
)  7KH FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH IUDPHZRUN VKRXOG EH FRPSOHPHQWHG E\ DQ HIIHFWLYH
HIILFLHQWLQVROYHQF\IUDPHZRUNDQGE\DGHTXDWHHQIRUFHPHQWRIFUHGLWRUULJKWV
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,9'LVFORVXUHDQGWUDQVSDUHQF\

7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGHQVXUHWKDWWLPHO\DQGDFFXUDWHGLVFORVXUHLVPDGHRQDOO
PDWHULDOPDWWHUVUHJDUGLQJWKHFRUSRUDWLRQLQFOXGLQJWKHILQDQFLDOVLWXDWLRQSHUIRUPDQFHRZQHUVKLS
DQGJRYHUQDQFHRIWKHFRPSDQ\




$

'LVFORVXUHVKRXOGLQFOXGHEXWQRWEHOLPLWHGWRPDWHULDOLQIRUPDWLRQRQ
 7KHILQDQFLDODQGRSHUDWLQJUHVXOWVRIWKHFRPSDQ\
 &RPSDQ\REMHFWLYHV
 0DMRUVKDUHRZQHUVKLSDQGYRWLQJULJKWV
 0HPEHUV RI WKH ERDUG DQG NH\ H[HFXWLYHV DQG WKHLU UHPXQHUDWLRQ )RU ERDUG
PHPEHUVGLVFORVXUHVKRXOGDOVRLQFOXGHWKHLUTXDOLILFDWLRQVWKHVHOHFWLRQSURFHVV
RWKHU FRPSDQ\ GLUHFWRUVKLSV DQG ZKHWKHU WKH\ DUH UHJDUGHG DV LQGHSHQGHQW E\
WKHFRPSDQ\
 5HODWHGSDUW\WUDQVDFWLRQV
 0DWHULDOIRUHVHHDEOHULVNIDFWRUV
 0DWHULDOLVVXHVUHJDUGLQJHPSOR\HHVDQGRWKHUVWDNHKROGHUV
 *RYHUQDQFHVWUXFWXUHVDQGSROLFLHV


%  ,QIRUPDWLRQ VKRXOG EH SUHSDUHG DXGLWHG DQG GLVFORVHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK KLJK
TXDOLW\ LQWHUQDWLRQDOO\ UHFRJQLVHG VWDQGDUGV RI DFFRXQWLQJ ILQDQFLDO DQG QRQ
ILQDQFLDOGLVFORVXUHDQGDXGLW
&

$Q DQQXDO DXGLW VKRXOG EH FRQGXFWHG E\ DQ LQGHSHQGHQW FRPSHWHQW DQG TXDOLILHG
DXGLWRU LQ RUGHU WR SURYLGH DQ H[WHUQDO DQG REMHFWLYH DVVXUDQFH WR WKH ERDUG DQG
VKDUHKROGHUV RQ WKH ZD\ LQ ZKLFK ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV KDYH EHHQ SUHSDUHG DQG
SUHVHQWHG

'

([WHUQDODXGLWRUVVKRXOGRZHDGXW\RIFDUHWRWKHFRPSDQ\DQGEHDFFRXQWDEOHWRWKH
ERDUGDQGVKDUHKROGHUV

(  &KDQQHOV IRU GLVVHPLQDWLQJ LQIRUPDWLRQ VKRXOG SURYLGH IRU HTXDO WLPHO\ DQG FRVW
HIILFLHQWDFFHVVWRUHOHYDQWLQIRUPDWLRQE\XVHUV

)  $QDO\VWVEURNHUVUDWLQJDJHQFLHVDQGRWKHUVZKRSURYLGHDQDO\VLVRUDGYLFHZKLFKLV
UHOHYDQW IRU GHFLVLRQV E\ LQYHVWRUV VKRXOG GLVFORVH DQ\ PDWHULDO FRQIOLFWV RI LQWHUHVW
WKDW PLJKW FRPSURPLVH WKH LQWHJULW\ RI WKHLU DQDO\VLV RU DGYLFH 7KH\ VKRXOG DOVR
HVWDEOLVKDQGGLVFORVHSURFHGXUHVIRUPDQDJLQJVXFKFRQIOLFWV
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97KHUHVSRQVLELOLWLHVRIWKHERDUG

7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGHQVXUHWKHVWUDWHJLFJXLGDQFHRIWKHFRPSDQ\WKHHIIHFWLYH
PRQLWRULQJRIPDQDJHPHQWE\WKHERDUGDQGWKHERDUG¶VDFFRXQWDELOLW\DQGOR\DOW\WRWKHFRPSDQ\DQG
WKHVKDUHKROGHUV

$

%

%RDUGPHPEHUVVKRXOGDFWRQDIXOO\LQIRUPHGEDVLVLQJRRGIDLWKZLWKGXHGLOLJHQFH
DQGFDUHDQGLQWKHEHVWLQWHUHVWRIWKHFRPSDQ\DQGWKHVKDUHKROGHUV
:KHUHERDUGGHFLVLRQVPD\DIIHFWGLIIHUHQWVKDUHKROGHUJURXSVGLIIHUHQWO\WKHERDUG
VKRXOGWUHDWDOOVKDUHKROGHUVIDLUO\

& 7KH ERDUG VKRXOG DSSO\ KLJK HWKLFDO VWDQGDUGV ,W VKRXOG WDNH LQWR DFFRXQW WKH
LQWHUHVWVRIVWDNHKROGHUV

' 7KHERDUGVKRXOGIXOILOFHUWDLQNH\IXQFWLRQVLQFOXGLQJ


5HYLHZLQJ DQG JXLGLQJ FRUSRUDWH VWUDWHJ\ PDMRU SODQV RI DFWLRQ ULVN SROLF\
DQQXDOEXGJHWVDQGEXVLQHVVSODQVVHWWLQJSHUIRUPDQFHREMHFWLYHVPRQLWRULQJ
LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DQG FRUSRUDWH SHUIRUPDQFH DQG RYHUVHHLQJ PDMRU FDSLWDO
H[SHQGLWXUHVDFTXLVLWLRQVDQGGLYHVWLWXUHV

0RQLWRULQJ WKH HIIHFWLYHQHVV RI WKH FRPSDQ\¶V JRYHUQDQFH SUDFWLFHV DQG
PDNLQJFKDQJHVDVQHHGHG


6HOHFWLQJ FRPSHQVDWLQJ PRQLWRULQJ DQG ZKHQ QHFHVVDU\ UHSODFLQJ NH\
H[HFXWLYHVDQGRYHUVHHLQJVXFFHVVLRQSODQQLQJ


$OLJQLQJNH\H[HFXWLYHDQGERDUGUHPXQHUDWLRQZLWKWKHORQJHUWHUPLQWHUHVWV
RIWKHFRPSDQ\


(QVXULQJDIRUPDODQGWUDQVSDUHQWERDUGQRPLQDWLRQDQGHOHFWLRQSURFHVV


0RQLWRULQJDQGPDQDJLQJSRWHQWLDOFRQIOLFWVRILQWHUHVWRIPDQDJHPHQWERDUG
PHPEHUVDQGVKDUHKROGHUVLQFOXGLQJPLVXVHRIFRUSRUDWHDVVHWVDQGDEXVHLQ
UHODWHGSDUW\WUDQVDFWLRQV


(QVXULQJWKHLQWHJULW\RIWKHFRUSRUDWLRQ¶VDFFRXQWLQJDQGILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ
V\VWHPV LQFOXGLQJ WKH LQGHSHQGHQW DXGLW DQG WKDW DSSURSULDWH V\VWHPV RI
FRQWURODUHLQSODFHLQSDUWLFXODUV\VWHPVIRUULVNPDQDJHPHQWILQDQFLDODQG
RSHUDWLRQDOFRQWURODQGFRPSOLDQFHZLWKWKHODZDQGUHOHYDQWVWDQGDUGV


2YHUVHHLQJWKHSURFHVVRIGLVFORVXUHDQGFRPPXQLFDWLRQV
(


7KH ERDUG VKRXOG EH DEOH WR H[HUFLVH REMHFWLYH MXGJHPHQW RQ FRUSRUDWH DIIDLUV
LQGHSHQGHQW IURP PDQDJHPHQW GRPLQDQW VKDUHKROGHUV DQG RWKHUV LQ D VSHFLDO
SRVLWLRQWRLQIOXHQFHWKHFRPSDQ\
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)

%RDUGV VKRXOG FRQVLGHU DVVLJQLQJ D VXIILFLHQW QXPEHU RI QRQH[HFXWLYH ERDUG
PHPEHUVFDSDEOHRIH[HUFLVLQJLQGHSHQGHQWMXGJHPHQWWRWDVNVZKHUHWKHUHLVD
SRWHQWLDO IRU FRQIOLFW RI LQWHUHVW ([DPSOHV RI VXFK NH\ UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV DUH
HQVXULQJ WKH LQWHJULW\ RI ILQDQFLDO DQG QRQILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ WKH UHYLHZ RI
UHODWHG SDUW\ WUDQVDFWLRQV ERDUG QRPLQDWLRQ DQG H[HFXWLYH DQG ERDUG
UHPXQHUDWLRQ
:KHQ FRPPLWWHHV RI WKH ERDUG DUH HVWDEOLVKHG WKHLU UHPLW FRPSRVLWLRQ DQG
ZRUNLQJSURFHGXUHVVKRXOGEHZHOOGHILQHGDQGGLVFORVHGE\WKHERDUG
%RDUG PHPEHUV VKRXOG EH DEOH WR FRPPLW WKHPVHOYHV HIIHFWLYHO\ WR WKHLU
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV

,Q RUGHU WR IXOILO WKHLU UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV ERDUG PHPEHUV VKRXOG KDYH DFFHVV WR
DFFXUDWHUHOHYDQWDQGWLPHO\LQIRUPDWLRQ
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$QQRWDWLRQVWR
WKH2(&'3ULQFLSOHVRI&RUSRUDWH*RYHUQDQFH


(QVXULQJDQHIIHFWLYHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUN
To achieve the intended outcomes of these Principles, it is necessary that an appropriate and effective
legal, regulatory and institutional framework is in place upon which all market participants can rely. This
corporate governance framework typically comprises elements of legislation, regulation, self-regulatory
arrangements, voluntary commitments and business practices that are the result of country specific
circumstances, history and tradition. The desirable mix between legislation, regulation, self-regulation,
voluntary standards, etc. in this area will therefore vary from country to country. As new experiences
accrue and business circumstances change, the content and structure of this framework needs to be
adjusted.
Countries seeking to implement the Principles should monitor their corporate governance framework,
including both regulatory arrangements and business practices, with the objective to maintain and
strengthen its contribution to market integrity and economic performance. As part of this, it is important to
take into account the interactions and complementarity between different elements of the corporate
governance framework and its overall ability to promote ethical, responsible and transparent corporate
governance practices. Such analysis should be viewed as an important tool in the process of developing a
corporate governance framework that will result in the outcomes that these Principles aspire to achieve. To
this end, effective and continuous consultation with the public is an essential element that is widely
regarded as good practice. Once these conditions are met, the governance system is more likely to avoid
over-regulation, support the exercise of entrepreneurship and limit the risks of damaging conflicts of
interest in both the private sector and in public institutions.
7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGEHGHYHORSHGZLWKDYLHZWRLWVLPSDFWRQRYHUDOO
HFRQRPLF SHUIRUPDQFH DQG WKH LQFHQWLYHV LW FUHDWHV IRU PDUNHW SDUWLFLSDQWV DQG WKH SURPRWLRQ RI
WUDQVSDUHQWDQGHIILFLHQWPDUNHWVThe corporate form of organisation of economic activity is a powerful
force for growth. The regulatory and legal environment within which corporations operate is therefore of
key importance to overall economic outcomes. Policy makers have a responsibility to put in place a
framework that is flexible enough to meet the needs of corporations operating in widely different
circumstances, facilitating their development of new opportunities to create value and to determine the
most efficient deployment of resources. To achieve this goal, policy makers should remain focussed on
ultimate economic outcomes and when considering policy options, they will need to undertake an analysis
of the impact on key variables that affect the functioning of markets, such as incentive structures, the
efficiency of self-regulatory systems and dealing with systemic conflicts of interest.
7KH OHJDO DQG UHJXODWRU\ UHTXLUHPHQWV WKDW DIIHFW FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH SUDFWLFHV LQ D
MXULVGLFWLRQVKRXOGEHWUDQVSDUHQWDQGHQIRUFHDEOHIf new laws and regulations are needed, such as to
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deal with clear cases of market imperfections, they should be designed in a way that makes them possible
to implement and enforce in an efficient and even handed manner covering all parties. Mechanisms should
also be established for parties to bring claims to protect their rights. In order to avoid over-regulation,
unenforceable laws, and unintended consequences that may impede or distort business dynamics, policy
measures should be designed with an explicit view to their overall costs and benefits. Such assessments
should take into account the need for effective enforcement, including the ability of authorities to deter
dishonest behaviour and to impose effective sanctions for violations.
Corporate governance objectives are also formulated in voluntary codes and standards that do not
enjoy the status of law or regulation. While such codes play an important role in improving corporate
governance arrangements, they might leave shareholders and other stakeholders with uncertainty
concerning their status and implementation. When codes and principles are used as a national standard or
as an explicit substitute for legal or regulatory provisions, market credibility requires that their status in
terms of coverage, implementation, compliance and sanctions is specified.
7KH GLYLVLRQ RI UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV DPRQJ GLIIHUHQW UHJXODWRU\ DXWKRULWLHVLQ DMXULVGLFWLRQ VKRXOG
EHFOHDUO\DUWLFXODWHGDQGHQVXUHWKDWWKHSXEOLFLQWHUHVWLVVHUYHGCorporate governance requirements
and practices are typically influenced by an array of legal domains, such as company law, securities
regulation, accounting and auditing standards, insolvency law, contract law, labour law, tax law etc. Under
these circumstances, there is a risk that the variety of legal influences may cause unintentional overlaps and
even conflicts, which may frustrate the ability to pursue key corporate governance objectives. It is
important that policy-makers are aware of this risk and take measures to limit it. Effective enforcement
also requires that the allocation of responsibilities for supervision, implementation and enforcement among
different authorities is clearly defined so that the competencies of complementary bodies and agencies are
respected and used most effectively. Overlapping and perhaps contradictory regulations between national
jurisdictions is also an issue that should be monitored with a view to countries providing for mutual
recognition of other countries’ laws and regulations provided they are consistent with these Principles.
When regulatory responsibilities or oversight are delegated to non-public bodies, it is desirable to
explicitly assess why, and under what circumstances, such delegation is desirable. It is also essential that
the governance structure of any such delegated institution be transparent and encompass the public interest.
6XSHUYLVRU\ UHJXODWRU\ DQG HQIRUFHPHQW DXWKRULWLHV VKRXOG KDYH WKH DXWKRULW\ LQWHJULW\ DQG
UHVRXUFHVWRIXOILOWKHLUGXWLHVLQDSURIHVVLRQDODQGREMHFWLYHPDQQHU0RUHRYHUWKHLUUXOLQJVVKRXOG
EHWLPHO\WUDQVSDUHQWDQGIXOO\H[SODLQHG Regulatory responsibilities should be vested with bodies that
can pursue their functions without conflicts of interest and subject to judicial review. As the number of
public companies, corporate events and the volume of disclosures increase, the resources of supervisory,
regulatory and enforcement authorities may come under strain. As a result, in order to follow
developments, they will have a significant demand for fully qualified staff to provide effective oversight
and investigative capacity which will need to be appropriately funded. The ability to attract staff on
competitive terms will enhance the quality and independence of supervision and enforcement.
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,7KHULJKWVRIVKDUHKROGHUVDQGNH\RZQHUVKLSIXQFWLRQV
7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGSURWHFWDQGIDFLOLWDWHWKHH[HUFLVHRIVKDUHKROGHUV¶ULJKWV

Equity investors have certain property rights. For example, an equity share can be bought, sold, or
transferred. An equity share also entitles the investor to participate in the profits of the corporation, with
liability limited to the amount of the investment. In addition, ownership of an equity share provides a right
to information about the corporation and a right to influence the corporation, primarily by participation in
general shareholder meetings and by voting.
As a practical matter, however, the corporation cannot be managed by shareholder referendum. The
shareholding body is made up of individuals and institutions whose interests, goals, investment horizons
and capabilities vary. Moreover, the corporation’s management must be able to take business decisions
rapidly. In light of these realities and the complexity of managing the corporation’s affairs in fast moving
and ever changing markets, shareholders are not expected to assume responsibility for managing corporate
activities. The responsibility for corporate strategy and operations is typically placed in the hands of the
board and a management team that is selected, motivated and, when necessary, replaced by the board.
Shareholders’ rights to influence the corporation centre on certain fundamental issues, such as the election
of board members, or other means of influencing the composition of the board, amendments to the
company's organic documents, approval of extraordinary transactions, and other basic issues as specified in
company law and internal company statutes. This Section can be seen as a statement of the most basic
rights of shareholders, which are recognised by law in virtually all OECD countries. Additional rights such
as the approval or election of auditors, direct nomination of board members, the ability to pledge shares,
the approval of distributions of profits, etc., can be found in various jurisdictions.
$


%

&

%DVLFVKDUHKROGHUULJKWVVKRXOGLQFOXGHWKHULJKWWR VHFXUHPHWKRGVRIRZQHUVKLS
UHJLVWUDWLRQ   FRQYH\ RU WUDQVIHU VKDUHV   REWDLQ UHOHYDQW DQG VXIILFLHQW
LQIRUPDWLRQRQWKHFRUSRUDWLRQRQDWLPHO\DQGUHJXODUEDVLV SDUWLFLSDWHDQGYRWH
LQJHQHUDOVKDUHKROGHUPHHWLQJV HOHFWDQGUHPRYHPHPEHUVRIWKHERDUGDQG 
VKDUHLQWKHSURILWVRIWKHFRUSRUDWLRQ
6KDUHKROGHUVVKRXOGKDYHWKHULJKWWRSDUWLFLSDWHLQDQGWREHVXIILFLHQWO\LQIRUPHG
RQGHFLVLRQVFRQFHUQLQJIXQGDPHQWDOFRUSRUDWHFKDQJHVVXFKDV DPHQGPHQWVWR
WKH VWDWXWHV RU DUWLFOHV RI LQFRUSRUDWLRQ RU VLPLODU JRYHUQLQJ GRFXPHQWV RI WKH
FRPSDQ\   WKH DXWKRULVDWLRQ RI DGGLWLRQDO VKDUHV DQG   H[WUDRUGLQDU\
WUDQVDFWLRQVLQFOXGLQJWKHWUDQVIHURIDVVHWVWKDWLQHIIHFWUHVXOWLQHLWKHUWKHVDOHRI
WKHFRPSDQ\¶VEXVLQHVVRUDQLPSDLUPHQWRIVKDUHKROGHUFDSLWDO
6KDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH RSSRUWXQLW\ WR SDUWLFLSDWH HIIHFWLYHO\ DQG YRWH LQ
JHQHUDO VKDUHKROGHUPHHWLQJV DQGVKRXOG EH LQIRUPHG RI WKH UXOHVLQFOXGLQJ YRWLQJ
SURFHGXUHVWKDWJRYHUQJHQHUDOVKDUHKROGHUPHHWLQJV
 6KDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG EH IXUQLVKHG ZLWK VXIILFLHQW DQG WLPHO\ LQIRUPDWLRQ
FRQFHUQLQJWKHGDWHORFDWLRQDQGDJHQGDRIJHQHUDOPHHWLQJVDVZHOODVIXOODQG
WLPHO\LQIRUPDWLRQUHJDUGLQJWKHLVVXHVWREHGHFLGHGDWWKHPHHWLQJ
 6KDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH RSSRUWXQLW\ WR DVN TXHVWLRQV WR WKH ERDUG DQG WKH
H[WHUQDODXGLWRUWRSODFHLWHPVRQWKHDJHQGDRIJHQHUDOPHHWLQJVDQGWRSURSRVH
UHVROXWLRQVVXEMHFWWRUHDVRQDEOHOLPLWDWLRQV
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In order to strengthen shareholder participation in general meetings, some companies
have improved the ability of shareholders to place items on the agenda by simplifying
the process of filing amendments and resolutions. Improvements have also been made in
order to make it easier for shareholders to submit questions in advance of the general
meeting and to obtain replies from management and board members. Shareholders
should also be able to ask questions of the external auditor, who is answerable to them.
Companies are justified in assuring that abuses of such opportunities do not occur. It is
reasonable, for example, to require that in order for shareholder resolutions to be placed
on the agenda, they need to be supported by shareholders holding a specified number or
percentage of shares or voting rights. Shareholder resolutions that are approved and
within the competence of the shareholders meeting should be binding on the board.
(IIHFWLYHVKDUHKROGHUSDUWLFLSDWLRQLQNH\FRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHGHFLVLRQVVXFKDV
WKHQRPLQDWLRQDQGHOHFWLRQRIERDUGPHPEHUVVKRXOGEHIDFLOLWDWHG6KDUHKROGHUV
VKRXOG EH DEOH WR PDNH WKHLU YLHZV NQRZQ RQ WKH UHPXQHUDWLRQ SROLF\ IRU ERDUG
PHPEHUV7KHHTXLW\FRPSRQHQWRIFRPSHQVDWLRQVFKHPHVIRUERDUGPHPEHUVNH\
H[HFXWLYHVDQGHPSOR\HHVVKRXOGEHVXEMHFWWRVKDUHKROGHUDSSURYDO
To elect the members of the board is a basic shareholder right. For the election process
to be effective, shareholders should be able to participate in the nomination of board
members and vote on individual nominees or on different lists of them. With respect to
nomination of candidates, boards in many companies have established nomination
committees to ensure proper compliance with established nomination procedures and to
facilitate and coordinate the search for a balanced and qualified board. It is increasingly
regarded as good practice in many countries for independent board members to have a
key role on this committee. To further improve the selection process, the Principles also
call for full disclosure of the experience and background of candidates for the board and
the nomination process, which will allow an informed assessment of the abilities and
suitability of each candidate.
The Principles call for the disclosure of remuneration policy by the board. In particular,
it is important for shareholders to know the specific link between remuneration and
company performance when they assess the capability of the board and the qualities
they should seek in nominees for the board. Although board and executive contracts are
not an appropriate subject for approval by the general meeting of shareholders there
should be a means by which they can express their views. Several countries have
introduced an advisory vote which conveys the strength and tone of shareholder
sentiment to the board without endangering employment contracts. In the case of equity
based schemes, which have the potential to dilute shareholders capital and to powerfully
determine managerial incentives, many countries now call for them to be approved by
shareholders. In an increasing number of cases, any changes to existing schemes must
also be approved.
6KDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG EH DEOH WR YRWH LQ SHUVRQ RU LQ DEVHQWLD DQG HTXDO HIIHFW
VKRXOGEHJLYHQWRYRWHVZKHWKHUFDVWLQSHUVRQRULQDEVHQWLD.
The Principles recommend that voting by proxy be generally accepted. Indeed, it is
important to the promotion and protection of shareholder rights that investors can place
reliance upon directed proxy voting. The corporate governance framework should
ensure that proxies are voted in accordance with the direction of the proxy holder and
that disclosure is provided in relation to how undirected proxies will be voted. In those
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jurisdictions where companies are allowed to obtain proxies, it is important to disclose
how the Chairperson of the meeting (as the usual recipient of shareholder proxies
obtained by the company) will exercise the voting rights attaching to those proxies and
the obligations to vote in accordance with a directed proxy. Where proxies are held by
the board or management for company pension funds and for employee stock ownership
plans, the directions for voting should be disclosed.
The objective of facilitating shareholder participation suggests that companies consider
favourably the enlarged use of information technology in voting, including secure
electronic voting in absentia. As a matter of transparency, meeting procedures should
ensure that votes are properly counted and recorded, and that a timely announcement of
the outcome be made.
'&DSLWDOVWUXFWXUHVDQGDUUDQJHPHQWVWKDWHQDEOHFHUWDLQVKDUHKROGHUVWRREWDLQDGHJUHH
RIFRQWUROGLVSURSRUWLRQDWHWRWKHLUHTXLW\RZQHUVKLSVKRXOGEHGLVFORVHG
Some capital structures allow a shareholder to exercise a degree of control over the
corporation disproportionate to the shareholders’ equity ownership in the company.
Pyramid structures, cross shareholdings and shares with limited or multiple voting rights
can be used to diminish the capability of non-controlling shareholders to influence
corporate policy.
In addition to ownership relations, other devices can affect control over the corporation.
Shareholder agreements are a common means for groups of shareholders, who individually
may hold relatively small shares of total equity, to act in concert so as to constitute an
effective majority, or at least the largest single block of shareholders. Shareholder
agreements usually give those participating in the agreements preferential rights to
purchase shares if other parties to the agreement wish to sell. These agreements can also
contain provisions that require those accepting the agreement not to sell their shares for a
specified time. Shareholder agreements can cover issues such as how the board or the
Chairman will be selected. The agreements can also oblige those in the agreement to vote
as a block. Some countries have found it necessary to closely monitor such agreements and
to limit their duration.
Voting caps limit the number of votes that a shareholder may cast, regardless of the
number of shares the shareholder may actually possess. Voting caps therefore redistribute
control and may affect the incentives for shareholder participation in shareholder meetings.
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0DUNHWV IRU FRUSRUDWH FRQWURO VKRXOG EH DOORZHG WR IXQFWLRQ LQ DQ HIILFLHQW DQG
WUDQVSDUHQWPDQQHU
 7KH UXOHV DQG SURFHGXUHV JRYHUQLQJ WKH DFTXLVLWLRQ RI FRUSRUDWH FRQWURO LQ WKH
FDSLWDO PDUNHWV DQG H[WUDRUGLQDU\ WUDQVDFWLRQV VXFK DV PHUJHUV DQG VDOHV RI
VXEVWDQWLDO SRUWLRQV RI FRUSRUDWH DVVHWV VKRXOG EH FOHDUO\ DUWLFXODWHG DQG
GLVFORVHG VR WKDW LQYHVWRUV XQGHUVWDQG WKHLU ULJKWV DQG UHFRXUVH 7UDQVDFWLRQV
VKRXOG RFFXU DW WUDQVSDUHQW SULFHV DQG XQGHU IDLU FRQGLWLRQV WKDW SURWHFW WKH
ULJKWVRIDOOVKDUHKROGHUVDFFRUGLQJWRWKHLUFODVV

 $QWLWDNHRYHU GHYLFHV VKRXOG QRW EH XVHG WR VKLHOG PDQDJHPHQW DQG WKH ERDUG
IURPDFFRXQWDELOLW\
In some countries, companies employ anti-take-over devices. However, both
investors and stock exchanges have expressed concern over the possibility that
widespread use of anti-take-over devices may be a serious impediment to the
functioning of the market for corporate control. In some instances, take-over
defences can simply be devices to shield the management from shareholder
monitoring. In implementing any anti-takeover devices and in dealing with takeover proposals, the fiduciary duty of the board to shareholders and the company
must remain paramount.

)

7KHH[HUFLVHRIRZQHUVKLSULJKWVE\DOOVKDUHKROGHUVLQFOXGLQJLQVWLWXWLRQDOLQYHVWRUV
VKRXOGEHIDFLOLWDWHG
As investors may pursue different investment objectives, the Principles do not
advocate any particular investment strategy and do not seek to prescribe the optimal degree
of investor activism. Nevertheless, in considering the costs and benefits of exercising their
voting rights, many investors are likely to conclude that positive financial returns and
growth can be obtained by undertaking a reasonable amount of analysis and by using their
voting rights.
 ,QVWLWXWLRQDO LQYHVWRUV DFWLQJ LQ DILGXFLDU\ FDSDFLW\ VKRXOG GLVFORVH WKHLU RYHUDOO
FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH DQG YRWLQJ SROLFLHV ZLWK UHVSHFW WR WKHLU LQYHVWPHQWV
LQFOXGLQJWKHSURFHGXUHVWKDWWKH\KDYHLQSODFHIRUGHFLGLQJRQWKHXVHRIWKHLU
YRWLQJULJKWV7KHYRWLQJUHFRUGRIVXFKLQYHVWRUVVKRXOGDOVREHGLVFORVHGWRWKH
PDUNHWRQDQDQQXDOEDVLV
It is increasingly common for shares to be held by institutional investors. The
effectiveness and credibility of the entire corporate governance system and company
oversight will, therefore, to a large extent depend on institutional investors that can
make informed use of their shareholder rights and effectively exercise their
ownership functions in companies in which they invest. While this principle does
not require institutional investors to vote their shares, it calls for disclosure of how
they exercise their ownership functions with due consideration to cost effectiveness.
For institutions acting in a fiduciary capacity, such as pension funds, mutual
investment schemes and some activities of insurance companies, the right to vote
can be considered part of the value of the investment being undertaken on behalf of
their clients. Failure to exercise the ownership rights could result in a loss to the
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investor who should therefore be made aware of the policy to be followed by the
institutional investors.
In some countries, the demand for disclosure of corporate governance policies
to the market is quite detailed and includes requirements for explicit strategies
regarding the circumstances in which the institution will intervene in a company; the
approach they will use for such intervention and; how they will assess the
effectiveness of the strategy. A complementary approach to participation in
shareholder’s meetings is to establish a continuing dialogue with portfolio
companies. Such a dialogue between institutional investors and companies should be
encouraged, especially by the regulatory system, although it is incumbent on the
company to treat all investors equally and not to divulge information to the investors
which is not at the same time made available to the market. The additional
information provided by a company would normally therefore include scene setting
and further elaboration of information already available to the market.
When fiduciary institutional investors have developed and disclosed a
corporate governance policy, effective implementation requires that they also set
aside the appropriate human and financial resources to pursue this policy in a way
that their beneficiaries and portfolio companies can expect.
 ,QVWLWXWLRQDO LQYHVWRUV DFWLQJ LQ DILGXFLDU\FDSDFLW\ VKRXOG GLVFORVH KRZ WKH\
PDQDJH PDWHULDO FRQIOLFWV RI LQWHUHVW WKDW PD\ DIIHFW WKH H[HUFLVH RI NH\
RZQHUVKLSULJKWVUHJDUGLQJWKHLULQYHVWPHQWV
The incentives for intermediary owners to vote their shares and exercise key
ownership functions may under certain circumstances differ from those of direct
owners. Such differences may sometimes be commercially sound but may also arise
from conflicts of interest which are particularly acute when the fiduciary institution
is a subsidiary or an affiliate of another financial institution, and especially an
integrated financial group. When such conflicts arise from material business
relationships, for example, through an agreement to manage the portfolio company’s
funds, market integrity would be enhanced if they are identified and disclosed to the
market.
At the same time, institutions should disclose what actions they are taking to
minimise the potentially negative impact on their ability to exercise key ownership
functions. Such actions may include the separation of bonuses for fund management
from those related to the acquisition of new business elsewhere in the organisation.
* 6KDUHKROGHUV LQFOXGLQJ LQVWLWXWLRQDO VKDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG EH DOORZHG WR
FRQVXOWZLWKHDFKRWKHURQLVVXHVFRQFHUQLQJWKHLUEDVLFVKDUHKROGHUULJKWVDVGHILQHG
LQWKHSULQFLSOHVDERYHVXEMHFWWRVRPHSRVVLEOHH[FHSWLRQVUHJDUGLQJLQDSSURSULDWH
FROOXVLRQ
It has long been recognised that in companies with dispersed ownership, individual
shareholders might have too small a stake in the company to warrant the cost of taking
action or for making an investment in monitoring performance. Moreover, if small
shareholders did invest resources in such activities, others would also gain without having
contributed. This would not be such an issue if institutions, particularly financial
institutions acting in a fiduciary capacity increased their ownership to a significant stake in
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individual companies, rather than simply diversifying. However, in many instances
institutional investors are prevented from doing this because it is beyond their capacity or
would require investing more of their assets in one company than may be prudent. To
overcome this dilemma, they should be allowed, and even encouraged, to co-operate and
co-ordinate their actions in nominating and electing board members, placing proposals on
the agenda and holding discussions directly with a company in order to improve its
corporate governance. More generally, shareholders should be allowed to communicate
with each other without having to comply with the formalities of proxy solicitation.
It must be recognised, however, that co-operation among investors could also be used
to manipulate markets and to obtain control over a company without being subject to any
takeover regulations. Moreover, co-operation might also be for the purposes of
circumventing competition law. For this reason, in some countries, the ability of
institutional investors to co-operate on their voting strategy is limited. Shareholder
agreements may also be closely monitored. However, if co-operation does not involve
issues of corporate control, or conflict with concerns about market efficiency and fairness,
the benefits of more effective ownership may still be obtained. Necessary disclosure of cooperation among investors may have to be accompanied by lock-up provisions which
prevent trading for a period so as to avoid the possibility of market manipulation.
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,,7KHHTXLWDEOHWUHDWPHQWRIVKDUHKROGHUV

7KH FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH IUDPHZRUN VKRXOG HQVXUH WKH HTXLWDEOH WUHDWPHQW RI DOO VKDUHKROGHUV
LQFOXGLQJ PLQRULW\ DQG IRUHLJQ VKDUHKROGHUV $OO VKDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH RSSRUWXQLW\ WR REWDLQ
HIIHFWLYHUHGUHVVIRUYLRODWLRQRIWKHLUULJKWV
Investors’ confidence that the capital they provide will be protected from misuse or misappropriation by
corporate managers, board members or controlling shareholders is an important factor in the capital
markets. Corporate boards, managers and controlling shareholders may have the opportunity to engage in
activities that may advance their own interests at the expense of non-controlling shareholders. The
Principles support equal treatment for foreign and domestic shareholders in corporate governance. They do
not address government policies to regulate foreign direct investment.
One of the ways in which shareholders can enforce their rights is to be able to initiate legal and
administrative proceedings against management and board members. Experience has shown that an
important determinant of the degree to which shareholder rights are protected is whether effective methods
exist to obtain redress for grievances at a reasonable cost and without excessive delay. The confidence of
minority investors is enhanced when the legal system provides mechanisms for minority shareholders to
bring lawsuits when they have reasonable grounds to believe that their rights have been violated. The
provision of such enforcement mechanisms is a key responsibility of legislators and regulators. Alternative
dispute resolution procedures, such as private arbitration, may also be a cost effective way of protecting
minority rights once a suitable regulatory framework is in place.
There is some risk that a legal system, which enables any investor to challenge corporate activity in the
courts, can become prone to excessive litigation. Thus, many legal systems have introduced provisions to
protect management and board members against litigation abuse in the form of tests for the sufficiency of
shareholder complaints, so-called safe harbours for management and board member actions (such as the
business judgement rule) as well as safe harbours for the disclosure of information. In the end, a balance
must be struck between allowing investors to seek remedies for infringement of ownership rights and
avoiding excessive litigation. Many countries have found that alternative adjudication procedures, such as
administrative hearings or arbitration procedures organised by the securities regulators or other regulatory
bodies, are an efficient method for dispute settlement, at least at the first instance level.
$  $OOVKDUHKROGHUVRIWKHVDPHFODVVVKRXOGEHWUHDWHGHTXDOO\

 :LWKLQ DQ\ FODVV DOO VKDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH VDPH YRWLQJ ULJKWV $OO
LQYHVWRUVVKRXOGEHDEOHWRREWDLQLQIRUPDWLRQDERXWWKHYRWLQJULJKWVDWWDFKHGWR
DOOFODVVHVRIVKDUHVEHIRUHWKH\SXUFKDVH$Q\FKDQJHVLQYRWLQJULJKWVVKRXOGEH
VXEMHFWWRDSSURYDOE\WKRVHFODVVHVRIVKDUHKROGHUVZKRDUHQHJDWLYHO\DIIHFWHG
The optimal capital structure of the firm is best decided by the management and the
board, subject to the approval of the shareholders. Some companies issue preferred
(or preference) shares which have a preference in respect of receipt of the profits of
the firm but which normally have no voting rights. Companies may also issue
participation certificates or shares without voting rights, which would presumably
trade at different prices than shares with voting rights. All of these structures may be
effective in distributing risk and reward in ways that are thought to be in the best
interest of the company and to cost-efficient financing. The Principles do not take a
position on the concept of “one share one vote”. However, many institutional
investors and shareholder associations support this concept.
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Investors can expect to be informed regarding their voting rights before they invest.
Once they have invested, their rights should not be changed unless those holding
voting shares have had the opportunity to participate in the decision. Proposals to
change the voting rights of different classes of shares should be submitted for
approval at general shareholders meetings by a specified majority of voting shares in
the affected categories.
 0LQRULW\ VKDUHKROGHUV VKRXOG EH SURWHFWHG IURP DEXVLYH DFWLRQV E\ RU LQ WKH
LQWHUHVWRIFRQWUROOLQJVKDUHKROGHUVDQGVKRXOGKDYHHIIHFWLYHPHDQVRIUHGUHVV
Many publicly traded companies have a large controlling shareholder. While the
presence of a controlling shareholder can reduce the agency problem by closer
monitoring of management, weaknesses in the legal and regulatory framework may
lead to the abuse of other shareholders in the company. The potential for abuse is
marked where the legal system allows controlling shareholders to exercise a level of
control which does not correspond to the level of risk that they assume as owners
through exploiting legal devices to separate ownership from control, such as
pyramid structures or multiple voting rights Such abuse may be carried out in
various ways including, the extraction of direct private benefits via high pay and
bonuses for employed family members and associates, inappropriate related party
transactions, systematic bias in business decisions and changes in the capital
structure through special issuance of shares favouring the controlling shareholder.
In addition to disclosure, key to protecting minority shareholders is a clearly
articulated duty of loyalty by board members to the company and to all shareholders.
Indeed, abuse of minority shareholders is most pronounced in those countries where
the legal and regulatory framework is weak in this regard. A quite particular issue
arises in some jurisdictions where groups of companies are prevalent and where the
duty of loyalty might be ambiguous and even interpreted as to the group. In these
cases, some countries are now moving to control negative effects by specifying that
a transaction in favour of another group company must be offset by receiving a
corresponding benefit from other companies of the group.
Other common provisions to protect minority shareholders, which have proven
effective, include pre-emptive rights in relation to share issues, qualified majorities
for certain shareholder decisions and the possibility to use cumulative voting in
electing members of the board. Under certain circumstances, some jurisdictions
require or permit controlling shareholders to buy-out the remaining shareholders at a
share-price that is established through an independent appraisal. This is particularly
important when controlling shareholders decide to de-list an enterprise. Other means
of improving minority shareholder rights include derivative and class action law
suits. With the common aim to improve market credibility, the choice and ultimate
design of different provisions to protect minority shareholders necessarily depends
on the overall regulatory framework and the national legal system.
 9RWHVVKRXOGEHFDVWE\FXVWRGLDQVRUQRPLQHHVLQDPDQQHUDJUHHGXSRQZLWKWKH
EHQHILFLDORZQHURIWKHVKDUHV
In some OECD countries it was customary for financial institutions which held shares
in custody for investors to cast the votes of those shares. Custodians such as banks and

22

brokerage firms holding securities as nominees for customers were sometimes required
to vote in support of management unless specifically instructed by the shareholder to do
otherwise.
The trend in OECD countries is to remove provisions that automatically enable
custodian institutions to cast the votes of shareholders. Rules in some countries have
recently been revised to require custodian institutions to provide shareholders with
information concerning their options in the use of their voting rights. Shareholders may
elect to delegate all voting rights to custodians. Alternatively, shareholders may choose
to be informed of all upcoming shareholder votes and may decide to cast some votes
while delegating some voting rights to the custodian. It is necessary to draw a
reasonable balance between assuring that shareholder votes are not cast by custodians
without regard for the wishes of shareholders and not imposing excessive burdens on
custodians to secure shareholder approval before casting votes. It is sufficient to
disclose to the shareholders that, if no instruction to the contrary is received, the
custodian will vote the shares in the way he deems consistent with shareholder interest.
It should be noted that this principle does not apply to the exercise of voting rights by
trustees or other persons acting under a special legal mandate (such as, for example,
bankruptcy receivers and estate executors).
Holders of depository receipts should be provided with the same ultimate rights and
practical opportunities to participate in corporate governance as are accorded to holders
of the underlying shares. Where the direct holders may use proxies, the depositary, trust
office or equivalent body should therefore without limitation issue proxies on a timely
basis to depository holders. The depository receipt holders should be able to issue
binding voting instructions with respect to the shares, which the depositary or trust
office holds on their behalf.


 8QUHVWULFWHGFURVVERUGHUYRWLQJVKRXOGEHIDFLOLWDWHG
Foreign investors often hold their shares through chains of intermediaries. Shares are
typically held in accounts with securities intermediaries, that in turn hold accounts with
other intermediaries and central securities depositories in other jurisdictions, while the
listed company resides in another country. Such cross-border chains cause special
challenges with respect to determining the entitlement of foreign investors to use their
voting rights, and the process of communicating with such investors. In combination with
business practices which provide only a very short notice period, shareholders are often
left with only very limited time to react to a convening notice by the company and to
make informed decisions concerning items for decision. This makes cross border voting
difficult. The legal and regulatory framework should clarify who is entitled to control the
voting rights in cross border situations and where necessary to simplify the depository
chain. Moreover, notice periods should ensure that foreign investors in effect have similar
opportunities to exercise their ownership functions as domestic investors. To further
facilitate voting by foreign investors, laws, regulations and corporate practices should
allow participation through means which make use of modern technology.
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 3URFHVVHV DQG SURFHGXUHV IRU JHQHUDO VKDUHKROGHU PHHWLQJV VKRXOG DOORZ IRU
HTXLWDEOHWUHDWPHQWRIDOOVKDUHKROGHUV&RPSDQ\SURFHGXUHVVKRXOGQRWPDNHLW
XQGXO\GLIILFXOWRUH[SHQVLYHWRFDVWYRWHV
In Section I of the Principles, the right to participate in general shareholder meetings
was identified as a shareholder right. Management and controlling investors have at
times sought to discourage non-controlling or foreign investors from trying to
influence the direction of the company. Some companies charged fees for voting.
Other impediments included prohibitions on proxy voting and the requirement of
personal attendance at general shareholder meetings to vote. Still other procedures
may make it practically impossible to exercise ownership rights. Proxy materials
may be sent too close to the time of general shareholder meetings to allow investors
adequate time for reflection and consultation. Many companies in OECD countries
are seeking to develop better channels of communication and decision-making with
shareholders. Efforts by companies to remove artificial barriers to participation in
general meetings are encouraged and the corporate governance framework should
facilitate the use of electronic voting in absentia.
%

,QVLGHUWUDGLQJDQGDEXVLYHVHOIGHDOLQJVKRXOGEHSURKLELWHG
Abusive self-dealing occurs when persons having close relationships to the company,
including controlling shareholders, exploit those relationships to the detriment of the
company and investors. Since insider trading entails manipulation of the capital markets, it
is prohibited by securities regulations, company law and/or criminal law in most OECD
countries. However, not all jurisdictions prohibit such practices, and in some cases
enforcement is not vigorous. These practices can be seen as constituting a breach of good
corporate governance inasmuch as they violate the principle of equitable treatment of
shareholders.
The Principles reaffirm that it is reasonable for investors to expect that the abuse of insider
power be prohibited. In cases where such abuses are not specifically forbidden by
legislation or where enforcement is not effective, it will be important for governments to
take measures to remove any such gaps.

&

0HPEHUV RI WKH ERDUG DQG NH\ H[HFXWLYHV VKRXOG EH UHTXLUHG WR LQIRUP WKH ERDUG
ZKHWKHU WKH\ GLUHFWO\ RU RQ EHKDOI RI WKLUG SDUWLHV KDYH D PDWHULDO LQWHUHVW LQ
WUDQVDFWLRQVGLUHFWO\DIIHFWLQJWKHFRUSRUDWLRQ
Members of the board and key executives have an obligation to inform the board where
they have a business, family or other special relationship outside of the company that could
affect their judgement with respect to a particular transaction. Such special relationships
include situations where executives and board members have a relationship with the
company via their association with a shareholder who is in a position to exercise control.
Where a material interest has been declared, it is usual for that person not to be involved in
any decision involving the transaction or matter.
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,,,7KHUROHRIVWDNHKROGHUVLQFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFH

7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGUHFRJQLVHWKHULJKWVRIVWDNHKROGHUVDVHVWDEOLVKHGE\ODZ
DQGHQFRXUDJHDFWLYHFRRSHUDWLRQEHWZHHQFRUSRUDWLRQVDQGVWDNHKROGHUVLQFUHDWLQJZHDOWKMREVDQG
WKHVXVWDLQDELOLW\RIILQDQFLDOO\VRXQGHQWHUSULVHV

A key aspect of corporate governance is concerned with ensuring the flow of external capital to firms both
in the form of equity and credit. Corporate governance is also concerned with finding ways to encourage
the various stakeholders in the firm to undertake economically optimal levels of investment in firmspecific human and physical capital. The competitiveness and ultimate success of a corporation is the result
of teamwork that embodies contributions from a range of different resource providers including investors,
employees, creditors, and suppliers. Corporations should recognise that the contributions of stakeholders
constitute a valuable resource for building competitive and profitable companies. It is, therefore, in the
long-term interest of corporations to foster wealth-creating co-operation among stakeholders. The
governance framework should recognise that the interests of the corporation are served by recognising the
interests of stakeholders and their contribution to the long-term success of the corporation.
$

7KHULJKWVRIVWDNHKROGHUVWKDWDUHSURWHFWHGE\ODZVKRXOGEHUHVSHFWHG
In all OECD countries, the rights of certain stakeholders are established by law (e.g.
labour, business, commercial and insolvency laws) or by contractual relations. Even in
areas where stakeholder interests are not legislated, many firms make additional
commitments to stakeholders, and concern over corporate reputation and corporate
performance often require the recognition of broader interests.

%  :KHUH VWDNHKROGHU LQWHUHVWV DUH SURWHFWHG E\ ODZ VWDNHKROGHUV VKRXOG KDYH WKH
RSSRUWXQLW\WRREWDLQHIIHFWLYHUHGUHVVIRUYLRODWLRQRIWKHLUULJKWV
The legal framework and process should be transparent and not impede the ability of
stakeholders to communicate and to obtain redress for the violation of rights.
& 3HUIRUPDQFHHQKDQFLQJPHFKDQLVPVIRUHPSOR\HHSDUWLFLSDWLRQVKRXOGEHSHUPLWWHG
The degree to which employees participate in corporate governance depends on national
laws and practices, and may vary from company to company as well. In the context of
corporate governance, performance enhancing mechanisms for participation may benefit
companies directly as well as indirectly through the readiness by employees to invest in
firm specific skills. Examples of mechanisms for employee participation include:
employee representation on boards; employee stock ownership plans or other profit sharing
mechanisms and governance processes such as works councils that consider employee
viewpoints in certain key decisions. Pension commitments are also often an element of the
relationship between the company and its past and present employees. Where such
commitments involve establishing an independent fund, its trustees should be independent
of the company’s management and manage the fund for all beneficiaries.




'  :KHUH VWDNHKROGHUV SDUWLFLSDWH LQ WKH FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH SURFHVV WKH\ VKRXOG
KDYHDFFHVVWRUHOHYDQWDQGVXIILFLHQWLQIRUPDWLRQRQDWLPHO\DQGUHJXODUEDVLV
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 Where laws and practice of corporate governance systems provide for participation by
stakeholders, it is important that stakeholders have access to information necessary to fulfil
their responsibilities.

(  6WDNHKROGHUVLQFOXGLQJ LQGLYLGXDOHPSOR\HHV VKRXOG EH DEOHWRIUHHO\ FRPPXQLFDWH
WKHLU FRQFHUQV DERXW LOOHJDO RU XQHWKLFDO SUDFWLFHV WR WKH FRPSDQ\ ERDUG DQG WKHLU
ULJKWVVKRXOGQRWEHFRPSURPLVHGIRUGRLQJWKLV
Unethical and illegal practices by corporate officers may not only violate the rights of
stakeholders but also be to the detriment of the company and the shareholders in terms of
reputation effects and an increasing risk of future financial liabilities. It is therefore to the
advantage of the company and the shareholders to establish procedures and safe-harbours
for complaints by employees and others outside the company, concerning illegal and
unethical behaviour. In many countries the board is being encouraged by laws and or
principles to protect these individuals and to give them direct access to someone
independent on the board, often a member of an audit or an ethics committee. Some
companies have established an ombudsman to deal with complaints. Several regulators
have also established confidential phone and e-mail facilities to receive allegations.
) 7KH FRUSRUDWH JRYHUQDQFH IUDPHZRUN VKRXOG EH FRPSOHPHQWHG E\ DQ HIIHFWLYH
HIILFLHQWLQVROYHQF\IUDPHZRUNDQGE\DGHTXDWHHQIRUFHPHQWRIFUHGLWRUULJKWV

Especially in emerging markets, creditors are a key stakeholder and the terms, volume
and type of credit extended to firms will depend importantly on their rights and on their
enforceability. Companies with a good corporate governance record are often able to
borrow in larger amounts and on more favourable terms than those with poor records or
who operate in non-transparent markets. Also, in many countries, when companies are
nearing insolvency, the legislative framework imposes a duty on directors to act in the
interests of the creditors. This can be an important driver of good corporate governance as
there is a strong incentive on boards to avoid running down the resources of the company. It
also provides an incentive on creditors, including financial institutions, to monitor the
governance of companies in which they have provided capital.
Creditor rights vary, ranging from secured bond holders to unsecured creditors. Such
differences are particularly important in the context of insolvency arrangements where in
some countries creditors will also acquire a direct role in the governance of a company.
From the perspective of an efficient framework of corporate governance, it is important to
make arrangements for creditors to participate in the restructuring of firms. This will
usually require efficient mechanisms for reconciling the interests of different classes of
creditors. In many jurisdictions provision is made for special rights such as through “debtor
in possession” financing which provides incentives/protection for new funds made
available to the enterprise in bankruptcy. 
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,9'LVFORVXUHDQGWUDQVSDUHQF\

7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGHQVXUHWKDWWLPHO\DQGDFFXUDWHGLVFORVXUHLVPDGHRQDOO
PDWHULDOPDWWHUVUHJDUGLQJWKHFRUSRUDWLRQLQFOXGLQJWKHILQDQFLDOVLWXDWLRQSHUIRUPDQFHRZQHUVKLS
DQGJRYHUQDQFHRIWKHFRPSDQ\

In most OECD countries a large amount of information, both mandatory and voluntary, is compiled on
publicly traded and large unlisted enterprises, and subsequently disseminated to a broad range of users.
Public disclosure is typically required, at a minimum, on an annual basis though some countries require
periodic disclosure on a semi-annual or quarterly basis, or even more frequently in the case of material
developments affecting the company. Companies often make voluntary disclosure that goes beyond
minimum disclosure requirements in response to market demand.
A strong disclosure regime that promotes real transparency is a pivotal feature of market-based monitoring
of companies and is central to shareholders’ ability to exercise their voting rights on an informed basis.
Experience in countries with large and active equity markets shows that disclosure can also be a powerful
tool for influencing the behaviour of companies and for protecting investors. A strong disclosure regime
can help to attract capital and maintain confidence in the capital markets. By contrast, weak disclosure and
non-transparent practices can contribute to unethical behaviour and to a loss of market integrity at great
cost not just to the company and its shareholders but also to the economy as a whole. Shareholders and
potential investors require access to regular, reliable and comparable information in sufficient detail for
them to assess the stewardship of management, and make informed decisions about the valuation,
ownership and voting of shares. Insufficient or unclear information may hamper the ability of the markets
to function, increase the cost of capital and result in a poor allocation of resources.
Disclosure also helps improve public understanding of the structure and activities of enterprises, corporate
policies and performance with respect to environmental and ethical standards, and companies’
relationships with the communities in which they operate. The OECD Guidelines for Multinational
Enterprises are relevant in this context.
Disclosure requirements are not expected to place unreasonable administrative or cost burdens on
enterprises. Nor are companies expected to disclose information that may endanger their competitive
position unless disclosure is necessary to fully inform the investment decision and to avoid misleading the
investor. In order to determine what information should be disclosed at a minimum, many countries apply
the concept of materiality. Material information can be defined as information whose omission or
misstatement could influence the economic decisions taken by users of information.
The Principles support timely disclosure of all material developments that arise between regular reports.
They also support simultaneous reporting of information to all shareholders in order to ensure their
equitable treatment. In maintaining close relations with investors and market participants, companies must
be careful not to violate this fundamental principle of equitable treatment.

$'LVFORVXUHVKRXOGLQFOXGHEXWQRWEHOLPLWHGWRPDWHULDOLQIRUPDWLRQRQ


7KHILQDQFLDODQGRSHUDWLQJUHVXOWVRIWKHFRPSDQ\

Audited financial statements showing the financial performance and the financial
situation of the company (most typically including the balance sheet, the profit and
loss statement, the cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements) are the
most widely used source of information on companies. In their current form, the two
principal goals of financial statements are to enable appropriate monitoring to take
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place and to provide the basis to value securities. Management’s discussion and
analysis of operations is typically included in annual reports. This discussion is most
useful when read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.
Investors are particularly interested in information that may shed light on the future
performance of the enterprise.
Arguably, failures of governance can often be linked to the failure to disclose the
“whole picture”, particularly where off-balance sheet items are used to provide
guarantees or similar commitments between related companies. It is therefore
important that transactions relating to an entire group of companies be disclosed in
line with high quality internationally accepted standards and include information
about contingent liabilities and off-balance sheet transactions, as well as
unconsolidated special purpose entities.


&RPSDQ\REMHFWLYHV
In addition to their commercial objectives, companies are encouraged to disclose
policies relating to business ethics, the environment and other public policy
commitments. Such information may be important for investors and other users of
information to better evaluate the relationship between companies and the
communities in which they operate and the steps that companies have taken to
implement their objectives.




0DMRUVKDUHRZQHUVKLSDQGYRWLQJULJKWV
One of the basic rights of investors is to be informed about the ownership structure
of the enterprise and their rights vis-à-vis the rights of other owners. The right to
such information should also extend to information about the structure of a group of
companies and intra-group relations. Such disclosures should make transparent the
objectives, nature and structure of the group. Countries often require disclosure of
ownership data once certain thresholds of ownership are passed. Such disclosure
might include data on major shareholders and others that, directly or indirectly,
control or may control the company through special voting rights, shareholder
agreements, the ownership of controlling or large blocks of shares, significant cross
shareholding relationships and cross guarantees.
Particularly for enforcement purposes and to identify potential conflicts of interest,
related party transactions and insider trading, information about direct ownership
may have to be complemented with information about beneficial ownership. In cases
where major shareholdings are held through intermediary structures or
arrangements, information about the beneficial owners should therefore be
obtainable at least by enforcement agencies and/or through the judicial process. The
OECD template “Options for Obtaining Beneficial Ownership and Control
Information” can serve as a useful self-assessment tool for countries that wish to
ensure necessary access to information about beneficial ownership.



0HPEHUVRIWKHERDUGDQGNH\H[HFXWLYHVDQGWKHLUUHPXQHUDWLRQ)RUERDUG
PHPEHUV GLVFORVXUH VKRXOG DOVR LQFOXGH WKHLU TXDOLILFDWLRQV WKH VHOHFWLRQ
SURFHVV RWKHU FRPSDQ\ GLUHFWRUVKLSV DQG ZKHWKHU WKH\ DUH UHJDUGHG DV
LQGHSHQGHQWE\WKHFRPSDQ\
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Investors require information on individual board members and key executives in
order to evaluate their experience and qualifications and assess any potential
conflicts of interest that might affect their judgement. The information should
include their qualifications, share ownership in the company, membership of other
boards and whether they are considered by the company to be an independent
member of the board. It is important to disclose membership of other boards not
only because it is an indication of experience and possible time pressures facing a
member of the board, but also because it may reveal potential conflicts of interest
and makes transparent the degree to which there are inter-locking boards.
A number of national principles, and in some cases laws, lay down specific duties
for board members who can be regarded as independent and in some instances
recommend that a majority of the board should be independent. In many countries,
it is incumbent on the board to set out the reasons why a member of the board can
be considered independent. It is then up to the shareholders, and ultimately the
market, to determine if those reasons are justified. Several countries have concluded
that companies should disclose the selection process and especially whether it was
open to a broad field of candidates. Such information should be provided in
advance of any decision by the general shareholder’s meeting or on a continuing
basis if the situation has changed materially.
Information about board and executive remuneration is also of concern to
shareholders. Of particular interest is the link between remuneration and company
performance. Companies are generally expected to disclose information on the
remuneration of board members and key executives so that investors can assess the
costs and benefits of remuneration plans and the contribution of incentive schemes,
such as stock option schemes, to company performance. Disclosure on an individual
basis (including termination and retirement provisions) is increasingly regarded as
good practice and is now mandated in several countries. In these cases, some
jurisdictions call for remuneration of a certain number of the highest paid
executives to be disclosed, while in others it is confined to specified positions.


5HODWHGSDUW\WUDQVDFWLRQV
It is important for the market to know whether the company is being run with due
regard to the interests of all its investors. To this end, it is essential for the company
to fully disclose related party transactions to the market, including whether they
have been executed at arms-length and on normal market terms. In a number of
jurisdictions this is indeed already a legal requirement. Related parties are defined
according to several high quality, internationally accepted, standards and include
entities under common control, significant shareholders including members of their
families and business associates, and key management personnel. Transactions by a
company with fully owned subsidiaries are not regarded as related party
transactions.
The potentially most difficult transactions include those with major shareholders (or
their close family, relations etc), either directly or indirectly. In some jurisdictions,
shareholders above a limit as low as 5 per cent shareholding are obliged to report
transactions. Disclosure requirements include, the nature of the relationship where
control exists, and the nature and amount of transactions with related parties,
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grouped as appropriate. Given the inherent opaqueness of many transactions, the
obligation may need to be placed on the beneficiary to inform the company about
the transaction, which in turn should make a disclosure to the market. This should
not absolve the firm from maintaining its own monitoring, which is an important
task for the board.


0DWHULDOIRUHVHHDEOHULVNIDFWRUV
Users of financial information and market participants need information on
reasonably foreseeable material risks that may include: risks that are specific to the
industry or the geographical areas in which it operates; dependence on commodities;
financial market risk including interest rate or currency risk; risk related to
derivatives and off-balance sheet transactions; and risks related to environmental
liabilities.
The Principles do not envision the disclosure of information in greater detail than is
necessary to fully inform investors of the material and foreseeable risks of the
enterprise. Disclosure of risk is most effective when it is tailored to the particular
industry in question. Disclosure about the system for monitoring and managing risk
is increasingly regarded as good practice.



0DWHULDOLVVXHVUHJDUGLQJHPSOR\HHVDQGRWKHUVWDNHKROGHUV
Companies are encouraged, and in some countries even obliged, to provide
information on key issues relevant to employees and other stakeholders that may
materially affect the performance of the company. Disclosure may include
management/employee relations, and relations with other stakeholders such as
creditors, suppliers, and local communities. 
Some countries require extensive disclosure of information on human resources.
Human resource policies, such as programmes for human resource development or
employee share ownership plans, can communicate important information on the
competitive strengths of companies to market participants.



*RYHUQDQFHVWUXFWXUHVDQGSROLFLHV
Companies should report their corporate governance practices, and in a number of
countries such disclosure is now mandated as part of the regular reporting. In several
countries, companies must implement corporate governance principles set by the
listing authority with mandatory reporting on a “comply or explain” basis.
Disclosure of the governance structures and policies of the company, in particular
the division of authority between shareholders, management and board members is
important for the assessment of a company’s governance.
As a matter of transparency, procedures for shareholders meetings should ensure
that votes are properly counted and recorded, and that a timely announcement of the
outcome is made.

%  ,QIRUPDWLRQ VKRXOG EH SUHSDUHG DXGLWHG DQG GLVFORVHG LQ DFFRUGDQFH ZLWK KLJK
TXDOLW\ LQWHUQDWLRQDOO\ UHFRJQLVHG VWDQGDUGV RI DFFRXQWLQJ ILQDQFLDO DQG QRQ
ILQDQFLDOGLVFORVXUHDQGDXGLW
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The application of high quality standards is expected to significantly improve the ability of
investors to monitor the company by providing increased reliability and comparability of
reporting, and improved insight into company performance. The quality of information
substantially depends on the standards under which it is compiled and disclosed. The
Principles call for the development of high quality internationally recognised standards,
which can serve to improve the comparability of information between countries. Such
standards should be developed through open, independent, and public processes involving
the private sector and other interested parties such as professional associations and
independent experts.
In some countries steps have been undertaken to place the development and
implementation of both accounting and audit standards under the auspices of a body acting
in the public interest and independent of the audit and accounting professions. Other
countries have preferred to focus more on tightening audit oversight through an
independent entity. Indeed, the 3ULQFLSOHVRI$XGLWRU2YHUVLJKW issued by IOSCO in 2002
states that effective auditor oversight generally includes, LQWHU DOLD: “…a mechanism
should exist to provide that a body, acting in the public interest, provides oversight over
the quality and implementation, and ethical standards used in the jurisdiction, as well as
audit quality control environments”; and “..A mechanism should exist to require auditors
to be subject to the discipline of an auditor oversight body that is independent of the audit
profession, or, if a professional body acts as the oversight body, is overseen by an
independent body”. It is desirable for such an auditor oversight body to operate in the
public interest, and have an appropriate membership, an adequate charter of
responsibilities and powers, and adequate funding that is not under the control of the
auditing profession, to carry out those responsibilities.
&

$Q DQQXDO DXGLW VKRXOG EH FRQGXFWHG E\ DQ LQGHSHQGHQW FRPSHWHQW DQG TXDOLILHG
DXGLWRU LQ RUGHU WR SURYLGH DQ H[WHUQDO DQG REMHFWLYH DVVXUDQFH WR WKH ERDUG DQG
VKDUHKROGHUV RQ WKH ZD\ LQ ZKLFK ILQDQFLDO VWDWHPHQWV KDYH EHHQ SUHSDUHG DQG
SUHVHQWHG
Many countries have introduced measures to improve the independence of auditors and to
tighten their accountability to shareholders. It is increasingly common for external auditors
to be recommended by an independent audit committee of the board and to be appointed
either by that committee or by shareholders directly. Moreover, the IOSCO standard
“3ULQFLSOHVRI$XGLWRU,QGHSHQGHQFHDQGWKH5ROHRI&RUSRUDWH*RYHUQDQFHLQ0RQLWRULQJ
DQ $XGLWRU¶V ,QGHSHQGHQFH” states that – “standards of auditor independence should
establish a framework of principles, supported by a combination of prohibitions,
restrictions, other policies and procedures and disclosures, that addresses at least the
following threats to independence: self-interest, self-review, advocacy, familiarity and
intimidation”.
The audit committee or an equivalent body is often specified as providing oversight of the
internal audit activities and should also be charged with overseeing the overall relationship
with the external auditor including the nature of non-audit services provided by the auditor
to the company. Provision of non-audit services by the external auditor to a company can
significantly impair their independence and might involve them auditing their own work.
To deal with the skewed incentives which may arise, a number of countries now call for
disclosure of payments to external auditors for non-audit services. Examples of other
provisions to underpin auditor independence include mandatory rotation of auditors (either
partners or in some cases the audit partnership), a temporary ban on the employment of an
ex-auditor by the audited company and prohibiting auditors or their dependents from
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having a financial stake or management role in the companies they audit. Other countries,
especially small ones, take a more direct regulatory approach and apply limitations on the
percentage of non-audit income that the auditor can receive from a particular client. In
addition, there may be limitations on the total percentage of auditor income that can come
from one client.
An issue which has arisen in some jurisdictions concerns the pressing need to ensure the
competence of the audit profession. In many cases there is a registration process for
individuals to confirm their qualifications. This needs, however, to be supported by
ongoing training and monitoring of work experience to ensure an appropriate level of
professional competence.
'

([WHUQDODXGLWRUVVKRXOGRZHDGXW\RIFDUHWRWKHFRPSDQ\DQGEHDFFRXQWDEOHWRWKH
ERDUGDQGVKDUHKROGHUV
The practice that external auditors are recommended by an independent audit
committee of the board or an equivalent body and that external auditors are appointed either
by that committee/body or by the shareholders’ meeting directly can be regarded as good
practice since it clarifies that the external auditor should be accountable to the board and
shareholders. It also underlines that the external auditor owes a duty of care to the company
rather than any individual or group of corporate managers that they may interact with for
the purpose of their work.

(  &KDQQHOV IRU GLVVHPLQDWLQJ LQIRUPDWLRQ VKRXOG SURYLGH IRU HTXDO WLPHO\ DQG FRVW
HIILFLHQWDFFHVVWRUHOHYDQWLQIRUPDWLRQE\XVHUV
Channels for the dissemination of information can be as important as the content of the
information itself. While the disclosure of information is often provided for by legislation,
filing and access to information can be cumbersome and costly. Filing of statutory reports
has been greatly enhanced in some countries by electronic filing and data retrieval systems.
Some countries are now moving to the next stage by integrating different sources of
company information, including shareholder filings. The Internet and other information
technologies also provide the opportunity for improving information dissemination.
A number of countries have introduced provisions for ongoing disclosure which includes
periodic disclosure (often prescribed by law or by listing rules) and continuous or current
disclosure which must be provided on an ad hoc basis. With respect to continuous/current
disclosure, good practice is to call for “immediate” disclosure of material developments.
Where “immediate” is implemented by prescribing a maximum number of specified days
for practical reasons, it should be on condition that information about material
developments will remain strictly confidential and be accompanied by effective
enforcement of insider trading rules until it is disclosed to the market. The IOSCO standard
(3ULQFLSOHV IRU 2QJRLQJ 'LVFORVXUH DQG 0DWHULDO 'HYHORSPHQW 5HSRUWLQJ E\ /LVWHG
(QWLWLHV) covers issues related to disclosure in more detail.


)  $QDO\VWVEURNHUVUDWLQJDJHQFLHVDQGRWKHUVZKRSURYLGHDQDO\VLVRUDGYLFHZKLFKLV
UHOHYDQW IRU GHFLVLRQV E\ LQYHVWRUV VKRXOG GLVFORVH DQ\ PDWHULDO FRQIOLFWV RI LQWHUHVW
WKDW PLJKW FRPSURPLVH WKH LQWHJULW\ RI WKHLU DQDO\VLV RU DGYLFH 7KH\ VKRXOG DOVR
HVWDEOLVKDQGGLVFORVHSURFHGXUHVIRUPDQDJLQJVXFKFRQIOLFWV
32

In addition to demanding independent and competent auditors and to facilitate timely
dissemination of information, a number of countries have taken steps to ensure the
integrity of those professions and activities that serve as conduits of analysis and advice to
the market. These intermediaries, if they are operating free from conflicts and with
integrity, can play an important role in providing incentives for company boards to follow
good corporate governance practices.
Concerns have arisen, however, in response to evidence that conflicts of interest often arise
and may affect judgement. This could be the case when the provider of advice is also
seeking to provide other services to the company in question or where the provider has a
direct material interest in the company or its competitors. The concern identifies a highly
relevant dimension of the disclosure and transparency process that targets the professional
standards of stock market analysts and research, rating agencies, investment banks, the
financial press, etc.
Experience in other areas indicates that the first best solution is to demand full disclosure
of conflicts of interest and how the entity is choosing to manage them. Particularly
important will be disclosure about how the entity is structuring the incentives of its
employees in order to eliminate the potential conflict of interest. Such disclosure allows
investors to judge the risks involved and the likely bias in the advice and information. In
some cases, there might be little confidence that such private arrangements will be able to
deal with the potential conflict of interest. In such cases, regulation might be used to bring
about more fundamental structural changes, such as a mandatory separation of conflicting
business activities into entirely independent entities. Standards covering brokers and rating
agencies in more depth have been developed by IOSCO (,26&26WDWHPHQWRI3ULQFLSOHV
IRU $GGUHVVLQJ 6HOOVLGH 6HFXULWLHV $QDO\VW &RQIOLFWV RI ,QWHUHVW, ,26&2 6WDWHPHQW RI
3ULQFLSOHV5HJDUGLQJWKH$FWLYLWLHVRI&UHGLW5DWLQJ$JHQFLHV).
97KHUHVSRQVLELOLWLHVRIWKHERDUG

7KHFRUSRUDWHJRYHUQDQFHIUDPHZRUNVKRXOGHQVXUHWKHVWUDWHJLFJXLGDQFHRIWKHFRPSDQ\WKHHIIHFWLYH
PRQLWRULQJRIPDQDJHPHQWE\WKHERDUGDQGWKHERDUG¶VDFFRXQWDELOLW\DQGOR\DOW\WRWKHFRPSDQ\DQG
WKHVKDUHKROGHUV
Board structures and procedures vary both within and among OECD countries. Some countries have
two-tier boards that separate the supervisory function and the management function into different bodies.
Such systems typically have a “supervisory board” composed of non-executive board members and a
“management board” composed entirely of executives. Other countries have “unitary” boards, which bring
together executive and non-executive board members. In some countries there is also an additional
statutory body for audit purposes. The Principles are intended to be sufficiently general to apply to
whatever board structure is charged with the functions of governing the enterprise and monitoring
management.
Together with guiding corporate strategy, the board is chiefly responsible for monitoring managerial
performance and achieving an adequate return for shareholders, while preventing conflicts of interest and
balancing competing demands on the corporation. In order for boards to effectively fulfil their
responsibilities they must be able to exercise objective judgement independent from management and
controlling shareholders. Another important board responsibility is to implement systems designed to
ensure that the corporation obeys applicable laws, including tax, competition, labour, environmental, equal
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opportunity, health and safety laws. In some countries, companies have found it useful to explicitly
articulate the responsibilities that the board assumes and those for which management are accountable.
The board is not only accountable to the company and its shareholders but also has a duty to act in their
best interests. This fiduciary duty of the board is a key condition which should govern all their actions. In
addition, boards are expected to take due regard of, and deal fairly with, other stakeholder interests
including those of employees, creditors, customers, suppliers and local communities. Observance of
environmental and social standards is relevant in this context.
$


%RDUGPHPEHUVVKRXOGDFWRQDIXOO\LQIRUPHGEDVLVLQJRRGIDLWKZLWKGXHGLOLJHQFH
DQGFDUHDQGLQWKHEHVWLQWHUHVWRIWKHFRPSDQ\DQGWKHVKDUHKROGHUV
In some countries, the board is legally required to act in the interest of the company,
taking into account the interests of shareholders, employees, and the public good. Acting in
the best interest of the company should not permit management to become entrenched.
This principle states the two key elements of the fiduciary duty of board members: the
duty of care and the duty of loyalty. The duty of loyalty is of central importance, since it
underpins effective implementation of other principles in this document relating to, for
example, the equitable treatment of shareholders, monitoring of related party transactions
and the establishment of remuneration policy for executives and board members. It is also a
key principle for board members who are working within the structure of a group of
companies: even though a company might be controlled by another enterprise, the duty of
loyalty for a board member relates to the company and all its shareholders and not to the
controlling company of the group.

%


:KHUHERDUGGHFLVLRQVPD\DIIHFWGLIIHUHQWVKDUHKROGHUJURXSVGLIIHUHQWO\WKHERDUG
VKRXOGWUHDWDOOVKDUHKROGHUVIDLUO\
In carrying out its duties, the board should not be viewed, or act, as an assembly of
individual representatives for various constituencies. While specific board members may
indeed be nominated or elected by certain shareholders (and sometimes contested by
others) it is an important feature of the board’s work that board members when they
assume their responsibilities carry out their duties in an even-handed manner with respect
to all shareholders. This principle is particularly important to establish in the presence of
controlling shareholders that GHIDFWR are able to select all board members.

& 7KH ERDUG VKRXOG DSSO\ KLJK HWKLFDO VWDQGDUGV ,W VKRXOG WDNH LQWR DFFRXQW WKH
LQWHUHVWVRIVWDNHKROGHUV

The board has a key role in setting the ethical tone of a company, not only by its own
actions, but also in appointing and overseeing key executives and consequently the
management in general. High ethical standards are in the long term interests of the
company as a means to make it credible and trustworthy not only in day to day operations
but also with respect to longer term commitments. To make the objectives of the board
clear and operational, many companies have found it useful to develop company codes of
conduct based on, LQWHU DOLD, professional standards and sometimes broader codes of
behaviour. The latter might include a voluntary commitment by the company (including its
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subsidiaries) to comply with the 2(&' *XLGHOLQHV IRU 0XOWLQDWLRQDO (QWHUSULVHV which
reflect all four principles contained in the ,/2'HFODUDWLRQRQ)XQGDPHQWDO/DERXU5LJKWV.
Company-wide codes serve as a standard for conduct by both the board and key executives,
setting the framework for the exercise of judgement in dealing with varying and often
conflicting constituencies. At a minimum, the ethical code should set clear limits on the
pursuit of private interests, including dealings in the shares of the company. An overall
framework for ethical conduct goes beyond compliance with the law, which should always
be a fundamental requirement.

'







7KHERDUGVKRXOGIXOILOFHUWDLQNH\IXQFWLRQVLQFOXGLQJ
 




5HYLHZLQJ DQG JXLGLQJ FRUSRUDWH VWUDWHJ\ PDMRU SODQV RI DFWLRQ ULVN SROLF\
DQQXDOEXGJHWVDQGEXVLQHVVSODQVVHWWLQJSHUIRUPDQFHREMHFWLYHVPRQLWRULQJ
LPSOHPHQWDWLRQ DQG FRUSRUDWH SHUIRUPDQFH DQG RYHUVHHLQJ PDMRU FDSLWDO
H[SHQGLWXUHVDFTXLVLWLRQVDQGGLYHVWLWXUHV

  0RQLWRULQJ WKH HIIHFWLYHQHVV RI WKH FRPSDQ\¶V JRYHUQDQFH SUDFWLFHV DQG
PDNLQJFKDQJHVDVQHHGHG
Monitoring of governance by the board also includes continuous review of the
internal structure of the company to ensure that there are clear lines of accountability
for management throughout the organisation. In addition to monitoring and
disclosing corporate governance practices on a regular basis, a number of countries
have moved to recommend or indeed mandate self-assessment by boards of their
performance as well as performance reviews of individual board members and the
CEO/Chairman.


  6HOHFWLQJ FRPSHQVDWLQJ PRQLWRULQJ DQG ZKHQ QHFHVVDU\ UHSODFLQJ NH\
H[HFXWLYHVDQGRYHUVHHLQJVXFFHVVLRQSODQQLQJ


In two board systems the supervisory board is also responsible for appointing the
management board which will normally comprise most of the key executives

  $OLJQLQJNH\H[HFXWLYHDQGERDUGUHPXQHUDWLRQZLWKWKHORQJHUWHUPLQWHUHVWV
RIWKHFRPSDQ\

In an increasing number of countries it is regarded as good practice for boards to
develop and disclose a remuneration policy statement covering board members and
key executives. Such policy statements should specify the relationship between
remuneration and performance, and include measurable standards that emphasise the
longer run interests of the company over short term considerations. Policy
statements generally tend to set conditions for payments to board members for extraboard activities, such as consulting. They also often specify terms to be observed by
board members and executives about holding and trading the stock of the company,
and the procedures to be followed in granting and re-pricing of options. In some
countries, policy also covers the payments to be made when terminating the contract
of an executive.
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It is considered good practice in an increasing number of countries that
remuneration policy and employment contracts for board members and executives
be handled by a special committee of the board comprising either wholly or a
majority of independent directors. There are also calls for the remuneration
committee to avoid interlocking board memberships which could lead to conflicts of
interest.
(QVXULQJDIRUPDODQGWUDQVSDUHQWERDUGQRPLQDWLRQDQGHOHFWLRQSURFHVV
These Principles promote an active role for shareholders in the nomination and
election of board members. The board has an essential role to play in ensuring that
this and other aspects of the nominations and election process are respected: First,
while actual procedures for nomination may differ among countries, the board or a
nomination committee has a special responsibility to make sure that established
procedures are transparent and respected. Second, the board has a key role in
identifying potential members for the board with the appropriate knowledge,
competencies and expertise to complement the existing skills of the board and
thereby improve its value-adding potential for the company. In several countries
there are calls for an open search process extending to a broader range of people
than has often been the case in the past.

















0RQLWRULQJDQGPDQDJLQJSRWHQWLDOFRQIOLFWVRILQWHUHVWRIPDQDJHPHQWERDUG
PHPEHUVDQGVKDUHKROGHUVLQFOXGLQJPLVXVHRIFRUSRUDWHDVVHWVDQGDEXVHLQ
UHODWHGSDUW\WUDQVDFWLRQV
It is an important function of the board to establish internal control systems covering
the use of corporate assets and to guard against abusive related party transactions.
These two functions are often assigned to the internal auditor which should maintain
direct access to the board. Where other corporate officers are responsible such as the
general counsel, it is important that they maintain similar reporting responsibilities
as the internal auditor.
In fulfilling this function it is important for the board to encourage the reporting of
unethical/unlawful behaviour without fear of retribution. The existence of a
company code of ethics should aid this process which should be underpinned by
legal protection for the individuals concerned. In a number of companies either the
audit committee or an ethics committee is specified as the contact point for
employees who wish to report concerns about unethical behaviour that might also
compromise the integrity of financial statements.
(QVXULQJWKHLQWHJULW\RIWKHFRUSRUDWLRQ¶VDFFRXQWLQJDQGILQDQFLDOUHSRUWLQJ
V\VWHPV LQFOXGLQJ WKH LQGHSHQGHQW DXGLW DQG WKDW DSSURSULDWH V\VWHPV RI
FRQWURODUHLQSODFHLQSDUWLFXODUV\VWHPVIRUULVNPDQDJHPHQWILQDQFLDODQG
RSHUDWLRQDOFRQWURODQGFRPSOLDQFHZLWKWKHODZDQGUHOHYDQWVWDQGDUGV
Ensuring the integrity of the essential reporting and monitoring systems will require
the board to set and enforce clear lines of responsibility and accountability
throughout the organisation and that there is appropriate oversight by senior
management. One way of doing this is through an internal audit system directly
reporting to the board. In some jurisdictions it is considered good practice for the
internal auditors to report to an independent audit committee of the board which is
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also responsible for contacts with the external auditor, thereby allowing a
coordinated response by the board.







Companies are also well advised to set up internal programmes and procedures
to promote compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards, including
statutes to criminalise bribery of foreign officials (that are required to be enacted by
the 2(&' $QWLEULEHU\ &RQYHQWLRQ) and other forms of bribery and corruption.
Moreover, compliance must also relate to other laws and regulations such as those
covering securities, competition and work and safety conditions. Such compliance
programmes will also underpin the company’s ethical code. To be effective, the
incentive structure of the business needs to be aligned with its ethical and
professional standards so that adherence to these values is rewarded and breaches of
law are met with dissuasive consequences or penalties. Compliance programmes
should also extend where possible to subsidiaries.
2YHUVHHLQJWKHSURFHVVRIGLVFORVXUHDQGFRPPXQLFDWLRQV
The specific functions of board members may differ according to the articles of
company law in each jurisdiction and according to the statutes of each company.
The above-noted elements are, however, considered essential for purposes of
corporate governance.

(


7KH ERDUG VKRXOG EH DEOH WR H[HUFLVH REMHFWLYH MXGJHPHQW RQ FRUSRUDWH DIIDLUV
LQGHSHQGHQW IURP PDQDJHPHQW GRPLQDQW VKDUHKROGHUV DQG RWKHUV LQ D VSHFLDO
SRVLWLRQWRLQIOXHQFHWKHFRPSDQ\
Independence of the board from management has a number of implications for both the
composition of the board and for the characteristics of its members. To have non-executive
board members may be a necessary but not sufficient criteria for effective independence.
The variety of board structures and practices in different countries will require different
approaches to the issue of independent board members. Board independence usually
requires that a sufficient number of board members not be employed by the company or its
affiliates and not be closely related to the company or its management through significant
economic, family or other ties including service on the boards of other companies, such as
customers and suppliers for whom the relationship of the company is material. This does
not prevent shareholders from being board members. Some national principles of corporate
governance have specified quite detailed presumptions for non-independence which are
frequently reflected in listing requirements. While establishing necessary conditions, such
‘negative’ criteria defining when an individual is QRWregarded as independent can usefully
be complemented by ‘positive’ examples of qualities that will increase the probability of
effective independence.
Independent board members can contribute significantly to the decision-making of the
board. They can bring an objective view to the evaluation of the performance of the board
and management. In addition, they can play an important role in areas where the interests
of management, the company and shareholders may diverge such as executive
remuneration, succession planning, changes of corporate control, take-over defences, large
acquisitions and the audit function. In order for them to play this key role, it is desirable
that companies declare who they consider to be independent and the criterion for this
judgement.
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In a number of countries with single tier board systems, the objectivity of the board and its
independence from management may be considered to be impaired when the role of Chief
Executive and Chairman are combined. Separation of the two posts may be regarded as
good practice, as it can help to achieve an appropriate balance of power, increase
accountability and improve the board’s capacity for decision making independent of
management. Separation can also increase the capacity of the Chairman to ensure high
quality governance of the enterprise and the effective functioning of the board. The
Chairman may in some countries, be supported by a company secretary.
Where the two roles of Chief Executive and Chairman are not separated, other methods to
establish appropriate checks and balances may be necessary and might include the
appointment of a lead non-executive director and by meetings from time to time of only
the non-executives of the board. In the case of dual board systems, analogous conflict of
interest issues might arise if there is a tradition of the Chief Executive becoming the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board on retirement.



In countries characterised by controlling shareholders who are able to determine the
composition of the board, the concept of independence is usually extended to also consider
the relationship with such shareholders. This is particularly important in jurisdictions
where the duty of the board and individual members to the company and to all its
shareholders is not well developed or enforced. Some jurisdictions have also experienced
cases where creditors have exercised undue influence over the board.
 %RDUGV VKRXOG FRQVLGHU DVVLJQLQJ D VXIILFLHQW QXPEHU RI QRQH[HFXWLYH ERDUG
PHPEHUVFDSDEOHRIH[HUFLVLQJLQGHSHQGHQWMXGJHPHQWWRWDVNVZKHUHWKHUHLVD
SRWHQWLDO IRU FRQIOLFW RI LQWHUHVW ([DPSOHV RI VXFK NH\ UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV DUH
HQVXULQJ WKH LQWHJULW\ RI ILQDQFLDO DQG QRQILQDQFLDO UHSRUWLQJ WKH UHYLHZ RI
UHODWHG SDUW\ WUDQVDFWLRQV ERDUG QRPLQDWLRQ DQG H[HFXWLYH DQG ERDUG
UHPXQHUDWLRQ
While the responsibility for financial reporting, remuneration and nomination are
frequently those of the board as a whole, independent non-executive board members
can provide additional assurance to market participants that their interests are
defended. The board may also consider establishing specific committees to consider
questions where there is a potential for conflict of interest. These committees may
require a minimum number or be composed entirely of non-executive members. In
some countries, shareholders have direct responsibility for nominating and electing
non-executive directors to specialised functions.
2.

:KHQ FRPPLWWHHV RI WKH ERDUG DUH HVWDEOLVKHG WKHLU UHPLW FRPSRVLWLRQ DQG
ZRUNLQJSURFHGXUHVVKRXOGEHZHOOGHILQHGDQGGLVFORVHGE\WKHERDUG
While the use of committees may improve the work of the board they may also
raise questions about the collective responsibility of the board and of individual
board members. In order to evaluate the merits of board committees it is therefore
important that the market receives a full and clear picture of their purpose, duties
and composition. Such information is particularly important in the increasing
number of jurisdictions where boards are establishing independent audit committees
with powers to oversee the relationship with the external auditor and to act in many
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cases independently. Other such committees include those dealing with nomination
and compensation. The accountability of the rest of the board and the board as a
whole should be clear. Disclosure should not extend to committees set up to deal
with, for example, confidential commercial transactions


%RDUG PHPEHUV VKRXOG EH DEOH WR FRPPLW WKHPVHOYHV HIIHFWLYHO\ WR WKHLU
UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV
Service on too many boards can interfere with the performance of board members.
Companies may wish to consider whether multiple board memberships by the same
person are compatible with effective board performance and disclose the
information to shareholders. Some countries have limited the number of board
positions that can be held. Specific limitations may be less important than ensuring
that members of the board enjoy legitimacy and confidence in the eyes of
shareholders. Achieving legitimacy would also be facilitated by the publication of
attendance records for individual board members (e.g. whether they have missed a
significant number of meetings) and any other work undertaken on behalf of the
board and the associated remuneration.
In order to improve board practices and the performance of its members, an
increasing number of jurisdictions are now encouraging companies to engage in
board training and voluntary self-evaluation that meets the needs of the individual
company. This might include that board members acquire appropriate skills upon
appointment, and thereafter remain abreast of relevant new laws, regulations, and
changing commercial risks through in-house training and external courses.

)


,Q RUGHU WR IXOILO WKHLU UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV ERDUG PHPEHUV VKRXOG KDYH DFFHVV WR
DFFXUDWHUHOHYDQWDQGWLPHO\LQIRUPDWLRQ
Board members require relevant information on a timely basis in order to support their
decision-making. Non-executive board members do not typically have the same access to
information as key managers within the company. The contributions of non-executive
board members to the company can be enhanced by providing access to certain key
managers within the company such as, for example, the company secretary and the internal
auditor, and recourse to independent external advice at the expense of the company. In
order to fulfil their responsibilities, board members should ensure that they obtain accurate,
relevant and timely information. In a number of countries, it is regarded as good practice
that there is an independent Chair of the board, or member if the Chair and CEO positions
are not separate, who is responsible for setting the agenda of the board and ensuring that
the board is fully informed.
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